
SOUTH WALES POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
MEETING

SUMMONS
10.30 am 
Tuesday, 2nd October, 2018

Orbit Business Centre
Rhydycar Business Park
Merthyr Tydfil  CF48 1DL

Further information regarding this agenda is available from the 
Democratic Services Department at Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Tel: (01685) 725284     Email: democratic@merthyr.gov.uk

A G E N D A

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is the host local authority for the South Wales 
Police and Crime Panel

3. Minutes of Previous Meeting(s) 5 - 8

4. Briefing Session 
A briefing session for Panel Members will be held 
from 10.00 am – 10.30 am (approximately) prior to 
the arrival of any invited attendees or witnesses to 
the meeting.

5. Commissioners Update Report – 
Rt Hon Alun Michael 

9 - 14

6. Update on Complaint changes paper and verbal 
update - Jackie Trow 

15 - 22

7. Presentation on complaints received and the work 
carried out by the Professional Standards 
Department - Superintendent Esyr Jones 

8. Paper and verbal update on Apprenticeship Levy  
explaining the work the Commissioner has been 
doing with regard to his lead role on the 
Partnership Council Finance Sub Group 

 What impact is the levy having upon SWP?

 Are the Police looking at ways they can 

access monies from the levy?

 How much of a priority is this for SWP?

23 - 36

9. Finance and Force Update presentation - Mr Umar 
Hussain/Deputy Chief Constable Richard Lewis 

10. Appointment of Chief Finance Officer – 
Rt Hon Alun Michael 

37 - 40

11. Report for Information - Annual Review- 
Lee Jones 

41 - 64

12. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair 



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is the host local authority for the South Wales 
Police and Crime Panel

COMPOSITION: Councillor R Smith (Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC) (Chair)

Councillors:
B Bowen-Thomson (Cardiff Council), C Davies (Merthyr 
Tydfil CBC), T Davies (Cardiff Council), R Lewis 
(Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC), P Rees (Neath Port Talbot 
CBC), C Richards (City and County of Swansea), 
R Young (Bridgend CBC), J Charles (Vale of 
Glamorgan CBC) and E Kirchner (City and County of 
Swansea)

Co-optees:
M Jehu (Vice-Chair)
M Jones

together with appropriate officers



This page is intentionally left blank



MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

MINUTES OF MEETING

SOUTH WALES POLICE AND 
CRIME PANEL MEETING

TUESDAY, 5TH JUNE, 2018

PRESENT: Councillor R Smith (Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC) (Chair)

Councillors:
B Bowen-Thomson (Cardiff Council), T Davies (Cardiff Council), 
R Lewis (Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC), P Rees (Neath Port Talbot 
CBC) and R Young (Bridgend CBC)

Co-optees:
M Jehu (Vice-Chair)
M Jones

Outside Bodies:
Mr Alun Michael (Police and Crime Commissioner)
Mr Matt Jukes (Chief Constable)
Mr Lee Jones (Chief of Staff – Commissioner’s Office)
Ms Paula Hardy (Strategic Policy Lead – Violence Against 
Women and Girls)

Officers: 
S Jones (Senior Solicitor) and H Jones (Scrutiny Officer)

M Hemmings (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

1  Apologies for Absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Kelly 
Roberts and Christine Richards.

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2  Declarations of Interest No Declarations of Interest were made.

3  Appointment of Chair 
of the South Wales 
Police and Crime 
Panel

Resolved that:

Councillor Robert Smith be appointed as Chair of the Panel.

4  Appointment of Vice 
Chair of the South 
Wales Police and 
Crime Panel

Resolved that:

Mr Melvin Jehu, Co-opted Member be appointed as Vice 
Chair of the Panel.

5  Minutes of Previous 
Meeting(s)

Resolved that:

The Minutes of the Meeting on 20 March 2018 be accepted 
as a correct record.

6  Change in Membership 
of the South Wales 
Police and Crime 
Panel

Simon Jones referred the Panel to the report ‘Change in 
Membership of the South Wales Police and Crime Panel’ 
and provided an update with regard to the Home Office 
confirmation of new appointments.

The Chair welcomed Councillor Chris Davies, Merthyr Tydfil 
(as an observer) to the meeting.

The Chair also requested that the two departing members 
of the Panel be sent a letter thanking them for their service.

Resolved that:

a) The changes in membership of the South Wales 
Police and Crime Panel be noted, subject to Home 
Office confirmation; and 

b) A letter be sent to Councillors Kevin Gibbs and 
John Thomas thanking them for their service on the 
Panel.

7  Attendance of Police 
Officers at A & E 
Departments

The Chair welcomed Alun Michael – Police and Crime 
Commissioner, Lee Jones – Chief of Staff of the 
Commissioner’s Office and Matt Jukes – Chief Constable to 
the meeting.

The Panel then received a presentation from the Police and 
Crime Commissioner on the attendance of Police Officers at 
A & E Departments and in particular Mr Michael referred to:

 Attendance and Trends (not including hospitals 
calling Police to attend).

 Mental Health.
 Influence of drink and/or drugs.
 Diagnosis of psychiatric treatment.
 Pressures that individual cases can cause.
 Changes in admission process.

Page 6



The Chief Constable advised that a typical month requires 
between 800 to 1000 hours of Police commitment to 
hospital watch, which doesn’t include voluntary attendance 
(800 to 1000 hours equals five Police Officers).

Further discussion took place with regard to safeguarding 
individuals in hospital and those in custody, the substantial 
commitment of police time and the benefits of the new 
control room which replaced the previous eight control 
rooms and which now includes the Fire Service and an 
Ambulance Desk and in the future will accommodate Mental 
Health Nurse support.

The following questions were raised/matters discussed and 
answered in detail by the Police and Crime Commissioner 
and the Chief Constable:-

 How strong are the relationships between the 
Police and the three Health Boards?

 Successful integration of Bridgend moving under 
Cwm Taf Health Board.

 Safety of NHS as a workplace.
 Is approach consistent across South Wales?
 Request for a report to be provided following mental 

health post being implemented.
 Is too much emphasis being made on social 

housing with regard to ACE’s?

The Chair expressed his view that a lot of work had been 
undertaken for the protection of the public.

A comfort break was taken at 11.50 a.m.  At this point, 
following verbal outbursts from members of the public, they 
were escorted from the meeting.

Meeting resumed at 11.55 a.m. and a discussion took place 
around complaints and how to manage these situations.

8  Police involvement in 
the Sexual Assault 
Referral Centre

Paula Hardy, Strategic Policy Lead, Violence Against 
Women and Girls provided a verbal update on Police 
involvement in the Sexual Assault Referral Centre and in 
particular referred to:-

 The purpose of SARC and the provision of support
 Police Involvement – 1297 referrals for the financial 

year 2017/18
 Overview of 2016/17 National Rape Data 

Comparisons
 Rape attrition (2015 Home Office study)

The following questions/matters were raised:-

Page 7



 Whilst Cardiff were accessing SARC 50%, 
remainder was split equally between Merthyr Tydfil 
and Swansea.  Given the difference in size of these 
two areas, how are the numbers so high for Merthyr 
Tydfil?

 Rape attrition rates for South Wales. 

 Highlighted that there had been significant progress 
made in reporting, but acknowledged that an 
increase in reporting would reflect in the attrition 
rates.

The Chair thanked Paula Hardy for the update.

Resolved that:

a) An update be brought to Panel on the rape attrition 
rates for South Wales.

9  Date and time of next 
meeting

The date of the next meeting is Tuesday, 2nd October 2018.

Venue: Orbit Centre, Merthyr Tydfil.

The Chair advised Panel that this would be Howard Jones 
last Panel Meeting as he was retiring.  The Chair thanked 
him on behalf of the Panel for the contribution he had made 
and wished him a long and happy retirement.

10  Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no other business 
deemed urgent.

Page 8



2018 10 02 Commissioner’s Update Report

Commissioner’s Update Report

2nd October 2018

 

 
Page 1 of 6

Community Safety in Wales

A ground-breaking agreement between Policing in Wales (the four Commissioners and the four Chief 
Constables) and the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) is funding the costs of creating a 
Community Safety Co-ordinator role to support local partnership working across Wales. Cabinet Secretary 
Alun Davies has agreed to provide a third of the costs and Steve Carr took up the role in August.  The Safer 
Communities Project is a joint initiative between Welsh Government, Local Government and Policing in Wales 
with the objective of providing shared leadership in reinvigorating community safety working in Wales.

Policing, Local Government and other partners are represented on the Safer Communities Programme Board, 
chaired by Alun Davies, and will oversee implementation of the Community Safety Review findings 
announced by the Cabinet Secretary last December.  Commissioners are represented by Alun Michael and 
Dafydd Llewelyn (Dyfed Powys) with Julian Williams, Chief Constable of Gwent, for Chief Police Officers.

Tasers

South Wales Police to increase number of officers trained to carry Taser

South Wales Police is to double its number of Taser-trained officers in the next year following a wide-
ranging review by Chief Constable Matt Jukes. The decision has been reviewed and strongly endorsed 
by the Police and Crime Commissioner.

The review, initiated in spring 2018, looked into the best ways for police officers to protect the public and 
themselves in the face of challenges including assaults on officers, as well as the national rise in knife 
crime and “County Lines”.  As a result, South Wales Police will increase the proportion of officers trained 
to use Tasers from 10% to 20% of all officers in the next 12 months – so an additional 281 officers will be 
trained with a similar increase planned for the following year. The increase will kick in from the start of 
2019, with detailed plans for the rollout and intensive training for the officers who will carry the device.

After detailed consideration of the evidence I am satisfied that the Chief Constable’s decision is in the 
public interest in every way. The use of a Taser is often misunderstood and misrepresented so it is 
important to stress that – properly used – it is a means of preventing injury, not of causing injury. 
Discharging a Taser will temporarily incapacitate suspects posing a danger to the public or to themselves, 
such as when they are armed with a weapon whereas other forms of restraint – such as use of a baton 
– often leads to injuries.

Evidence shows that Tasers are frequently used to prevent violence against police officers and they also 
prevent injury to the person being restrained as well as members of the public. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



 
Commissioner’s Update Report (continued)

2018 05 25

 
Page 2 of 6

Frequently the Taser is not even used because its very presence has been enough to deter an offender. 
In the vast majority of cases where Taser is carried, it is not deployed – and, even when it is deployed, 
prevention of violence comes from measures short of discharge such as projecting a laser’s red dot on 
to the suspect [shown in the chart below]. 

The use of Tasers has to be carefully controlled, so in South Wales enormous care is taken when training 
officers who carry a Taser to ensure that they understand their responsibilities. Its use is also scrutinised 
closely by senior officers, by the Home Office and by other external bodies to ensure that Tasers are only 
used to prevent harm. The Chief Constable’s decision is based on evidence that additional police officers 
carrying Taser will act as a deterrence to violence. 

On average, South Wales Police officers are subjected to around nine assaults each week, and attacks 
often include kicking, biting, punching and spitting.  There is growing evidence that gangs linked to drugs 
trafficking and County Lines activity are increasingly likely to be carrying weapons. We intend to be ready 
should these trends have an increasing impact in our area, with Taser being particularly adept at 
neutralising the threat from someone armed with a knife. Extra Taser provision will help mitigate these 
threats and allow for more effective policing, with its use frequently preventing harm to the police, the 
public and indeed offenders.

We do not anticipate a significant increase in the amount of times Taser is discharged following this 
increase because the proportion of instances where a Taser is discharged is tiny. In about 90% of cases 
where use of a Taser is authorised the officer Taser will neither deploy nor use the device.

In the South Wales Police area in the year 2017/18 year, Tasers were authorised on some 2,000 
occasions, deployed in 227 cases and discharged on only 16 occasions.

I will monitor Taser use by South Wales Police – with particular emphasis on the results of this increased 
availability – to make certain that any and every use of Taser in South Wales is justifiable, proportionate, 
lawful, and necessary.  

Where a Taser is deployed, there are a number of stages prior to discharge, as follows, and these made 
up approximately 93% of the force’s Taser deployments in 2017/18:

• Drawn: The Taser is taken out of its holster. This, along with the other stages below, is recorded 
as a use of force and the action must be justified.

• Aimed: The Taser can be aimed at the subject or elsewhere without being discharged.

• Red Dot: The Taser has a laser system which allows the officer to illuminate the subject with a 
red dot. This allows the officer to take better aim, but also ensures the subject knows that he or 
she has a Taser pointed at them.

• Arcing: With the cartridge removed, officers can activate the weapon as a deterrent. The electric 
current sparks between the contact points giving an audible and visual warning.

Page 10



 
Commissioner’s Update Report (continued)

2018 05 25

 
Page 3 of 6

Facial Recognition

In June 2017, during the UEFA Champions League Final in Cardiff, South Wales Police became the first Force 
to deploy Automated Facial Recognition (AFR) ‘Locate’. This included becoming the first force in the UK to 
have a positive match using AFR, leading to the arrest of a 34 year old man wanted on a recall to prison. AFR 
Locate is a real time solution which uses live feeds from CCTV-type cameras based either at a specific fixed 
location or on a camera secured to a police vehicle to locate persons on prescribed watch lists.

On the 7th August South Wales Police went live with Automated Facial Recognition (AFR) ‘Identify’ which 
uses a static face search capability. AFR Identity allows officers to load images of “persons of interest” and 
compare them against our 500,000 custody images to see if there is a possible match on identification.

The past 10 months have been used for validating the technology, building confidence amongst our officers 
and the public and considering the future use of the technology, as well as developing an ever-improving 
understanding of the technology and applying the lessons of further research and development.

As well as oversight by the Police & Crime Commissioner there has been scrutiny from the Biometrics 
Commissioner, the Information Commissioner and the Surveillance Commissioner and by the Independent 
Ethics Committee (appointed jointly by the Commissioner and the Chief Constable) and from a Home Office 
team including senior lawyers and policy officials.  The approach has also been considered by the 
Commissioner’s Police Accountability and Legitimacy Group, and by the Commissioner’s Strategic Board.
From the start both the Commissioner and the Chief Constable have taken seriously the inevitable concerns 
about privacy, so checks and balances have been built into our methodology to make sure our approach is 
justified and balanced.  The detailed discussions and consultation with all interested regulatory partners, 
have ensured that the wider principles of Human Rights legislation are met, along with the specific 
requirements of the Data Protection Act and the General Data Protection Regulation (GPDR), so that the 

Page 11



 
Commissioner’s Update Report (continued)

2018 05 25

 
Page 4 of 6

deployment of this technology is proportionate and balances the need to protect privacy with the need to 
protect the public.   Regulators are represented on the Facial Recognition Strategic Partnership Board, which 
meets on a quarterly basis and we believe that the care with which the use of the technology by South Wales 
Police enables a human rights case FOR the use of Facial Recognition to be made during consideration of the 
current legal challenge to the deployment.

Police Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Programme

The Police ACEs programme has been discussed at previous panel meetings and supports closer and more 
coordinated working across all levels of vulnerability and with all relevant agencies in Wales.   It builds on the 
research undertaken by Public Health Wales and the partnership agreement between South Wales Police 
(the Commissioner and the Chief Constable) with Public Health Wales which has now been expanded to the 
whole of Wales. 

At the heart of a £6.8million programme, supported by the Police Transformation Fund, is the use of the ACEs 
research to provide an understanding of policing vulnerability and an understanding of the way that the 
consequences of ACEs span from childhood to adulthood.  They are the causes of demand on all parts of the 
public sector, with significant implications for policing, health, local government and education. In Wales, 
addressing the causes and consequences of ACEs is now a key priority area for many public services and the 
programme’s focus on this shared agenda will enable close and co-ordinating working across partners. 

The all Wales approach to policing vulnerability will be delivered using a systems model of working by 
bringing together credible expertise from across agencies into workforce development and delivery support 
teams. The teams will move alongside local resource and provide capacity between now and 2020 to drive 
transformational change in culture and systems at local and strategic levels, leading to early intervention in 
response to local needs and demand.  A national (Wales wide) consistency will be applied to training and 
professional practice for vulnerability, adaptable to local needs. There will be joint training with partners and 
joint development of pathways for early help which enable police to respond to the needs of individuals, 
families and communities and know where and how they can access help. 

This is a unique opportunity in Wales to test this ambitious approach at scale and pace. This opportunity has 
been brought about by the current policy and legislative context: the Wellbeing and Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 and the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014. This context is creating an 
opportunity for closer working across the public and third sectors, with a duty on public bodies to collaborate 
and integrate to achieve shared objectives, take a long term approach to problem solving and to take a 
preventative approach. 

Public Service Boards (PSBs) are being mandated across Wales to focus their local needs assessments on 
wellbeing, with ACEs forming a cornerstone of how partners will respond. This will provide the opportunity 
for the programme to be owned locally and coordinated with key partners who hold the levers which can 
reduce demand and mitigate against the impact of ACEs. Our key partners include other justice services such 
as Prisons, Probation and substance misuse services as well as wider social partners such as housing, 
education, health and social services. This approach is underpinned by an ethos of co-production. 

Page 12



 
Commissioner’s Update Report (continued)

2018 05 25

 
Page 5 of 6

The term Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) is used to describe the range of traumatic and stressful 
events that children can be exposed to while growing up. These experiences range from verbal, mental and 
physical abuse, to being exposed to alcoholism, drug use and domestic violence at home. The Public Health 
Wales Welsh ACEs study demonstrated that 14% of adults living in Wales (aged 18-69 years) had experienced 
four or more ACEs (before the age of 18). The ACEs included in the study along with the percentage of those 
who were found to have experienced them in the study are : childhood abuse (physical (17%), sexual (10%) 
or verbal (23%) abuse); parental separation (20%); exposure to domestic violence (16%); or living in a 
household affected by substance misuse (alcohol abuse 14%, drug use 5%), mental illness (14%) or where 
someone is incarcerated (5%).   Individuals who had experienced four or more ACEs were 20 times more 
likely to be incarcerated at any point in their lifetime; 16 times more likely to have used crack cocaine or 
heroin, 15 times more likely to have committed violence against another person in the last 12 months, and 
14 times more likely to have been a victim of violence in the last 12 months, compared to those with no ACEs.

The programme builds on the pilot project in Maesteg, which highlighted the devastating impact of those 
who suffer Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) on society.  We hope to see a number of positive outcomes, 
including a better informed and skilled workforce which can respond proactively to individual vulnerability 
as well as increasing awareness among frontline staff.  The aim is to reduce repeat demand, develop more 
appropriate and consistent sharing of information about vulnerability, increased public confidence and victim 
satisfaction as well as reduced demand on policing and partners.

The new funding will accelerate our joint efforts to prevent Adverse Childhood Experiences and ensure that 
our public services can support those whose lives have already been affected by harmful childhoods.

Oversight, Scrutiny and Accountability

Stop-Search dip sampling 

Earlier in 2018, a sample of 112 completed stop-search records were dip sampled by my team from stop 
searches that had taken place between April and November 2017.  These included 20 stop-search records 
from each of the four Basic Command Units, plus 32 sample records relating to people from BME 
backgrounds to consider any disproportionality issues – identified by taking five forms from each of the 
ethnicity categories. Only two in the sample were from a Chinese background, resulting in the total of 32.

Of the 80 records in the BCUs sample, 10% identified questionable grounds for search.  Of the 32 records 
within the BME sample, 12.5% identified questionable grounds for search.  There still appeared to be some 
confusion around the use of stop search practice when there is a smell of cannabis (the smell alone cannot 
justify a search) and a tendency not to provide those searched with a receipt as is required.  Almost all stop 
searches dip sampled resulted in no receipt being given.

Stop search Body Worn Video dip sampling

In August 2018, members of my team conducted a dip sampling exercise of Body Worn Video footage in 
relation to stop searches.  For this process, ten randomly-selected videos were identified, all of which had 
been categorised as ‘stop search’ footage and were played in their entirety.  All videos came from a sample 
of stop searches that had taken place across South Wales Police between 1st July and 1st August 2018.

Page 13



 
Commissioner’s Update Report (continued)

2018 05 25

 
Page 6 of 6

The key points being considered during the exercise were the extent to which the ‘GOWISELY’ protocol had 
been adhered to during each search and the general politeness and manner of the officers involved.  

The videos did not give rise to any major concerns.  All stop search encounters were conducted in a generally 
polite and fair manner.  However, none of the stop search encounters showed officers offering a receipt or 
appearing to provide one.  This supported the findings of the Commissioner team’s dip sampling of 
completed stop search forms in 2018.  During those dip sampling exercises the majority of forms were ticked 
to say a receipt had not been provided.  In most of those cases the officers stated that a receipt was ‘declined’, 
but given the footage viewed in this exercise, it may be the case that officers were unaware of the need to 
offer a receipt or were not remembering to do so.  It would be important for this to be addressed internally 
as there would be no way for a member of the public to make a complaint or query their stop search 
encounter without something being provided to them about the identity of the officer etc.  The ability to 
obtain a record of the search was explained in each video however.  

In some cases, the recording began after the encounter had begun and sometimes recording stopped before 
the encounter had ended.  This made it difficult to be completely sure that GOWISELY had been fully adhered 
to. It would be useful for the body worn video record button to be pressed as soon as the encounter begins 
and to remain on until the encounter is complete and it has been suggested that this instruction is given to 
officers in future.

Hate Crime Victim Satisfaction 

Earlier in the year, members of my team considered all the qualitative responses provided to the Telephone 
Research Unit in relation to hate crime victim reports. In this case, 220 victim surveys were considered.  All 
were spoken to by the research unit between April and November 2017, re[resenting 13% of victims who 
had reported a hate-related incident during the period. The exercise found that communication and follow 
up were the main concerns affecting satisfaction.  There were a number of positive comments about officer 
and PSC treatment. Of those that had a ‘generally low opinion’ of the police prior reporting, more than half 
had a better opinion by the end of their experience. 

This was the second exercise of this nature conducted by the Commissioner’s team, in which there has been 
a focus on considering the qualitative information that sits behind the statistics in order to better understand 
the views of those less satisfied.  Similar results were found in the previous exercise and it was this work that 
led the Commissioner’s team to develop a bilingual animation video during Hate Crime Awareness Week in 
October 2017. This provided information to the public on the very things that were picked up during the 
quality assurance work i.e. it explained the methods and benefits of reporting hate crime and the positive 
service that would be received if reporting directly to South Wales Police.

During Hate Crime Awareness Week in October 2018 there is an intention that the video will be widely 
publicised again - this time with a selection of additional minority languages being provided over the video.  
The team are in the process of developing this via a translation service.  I understand that a review is taking 
place on future use of the Telephone Research Unit and will ensure that victim experiences are considered 
during that process and will be fed into the design of future work.

Alun Michael

21 September 2018

Page 14



 

 

ACTION PLAN FOR 
COMPLAINTS 

MATTERS

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Trend Analysis- Statistical assessment

Who

Quality of Service Officer

What

Analysis will be undertaken of the data received by ourselves in the Commissioner’s office 
alongside the date provided by the Professional Standards Department to identify any 
trends or patterns that may become evident to inform how complaints are dealt with or if 
there are certain issues apparent in certain areas.

Where

Commissioner’s office

Why

Trend analysis will be used as a tool for performance measurement, not only for the 
Professional Standards Department but also for our own performance. It will inform us how 
the Professional Standards Department are handling their complaints alongside our own 
complaint handling systems but will also inform us when there are further widespread or 
ingrained issues that need to be addressed outside of the complaints arena.

When

Start August 2018.

How

A spreadsheet will be kept of all complaints that are received by the Commissioner. The 
Professional Standards Department will provide their monthly data to the Quality of Service 
team on a monthly basis with any annotations that they wish to make or any analysis that 
they have conducted themselves. This data will then be studied by the Quality of Service 
officer to ascertain if there are any trends or patterns evident from the information. These 
results will feed into the complaints monthly highlight report and will also be provided to 
the Professional Standards Department. The results will eventually be published on the 
Commissioners website to evidence to the public that we are holding the Chief Constable to 
account in respect of how complaints are dealt with.

1

Page 16



 

 

Quality of Service Complaints Group/ PALG

Who

I propose to use the Policing and Legitimacy Group as a way of measuring how complaints 
are handled on a more strategic level.

What

To discuss finalised complaints that have come to the attention of the Quality of Service 
team for having particular issues or fit the criteria of a certain theme decided by the Chair. 
The complaints will be analysed for the way in which PSD have dealt with them and whether 
it is a fair and reasonable approach and the impression made upon people who are not in 
the police regarding the service provided.

Where

PALG

Why

In order to measure performance on a more strategic level with a level of independent 
oversight.

When

Next PALG meeting.

How

The Chair will decide upon a thematic issue to investigate or cases of note will be brought to 
the attention of the group. 

A request will be made to the Professional Standards Department for the relevant 
information which will then be condensed into a format which the Group can look at quickly 
and can lead onto further discussion. 

The outcomes of the discussions will be recorded and any suggestions/comments will be 
reported back to PSD but will also be recorded in the regular highlight report. 

2

Page 17



 

 

Dip Sampling

Who

Quality of Service Manager and Quality of Service Officer (plus any other interested or 
relevant person)

What

Dip sampling of recorded complaints and service recovered expressions of dissatisfaction

Where

Commissioner’s office

When

Starting in August

Why

Dip sampling will be utilised to measure performance and to hold the force to account in 
respect of how they deal with complaints and on a wider platform, how they deal with 
various policing issues. 

How

There is a dip sampling policy which will be updated and adhered to. There will be monthly 
dip sampling following a set programme unless issues of concern are raised or there are 
thematic issues. Other areas of work within the Commissioner’s team can also feed into the 
dip sampling programme which will then in turn feed into a wider dip sampling programme 
of scrutiny. 

Areas to dip sample will be as follows:

1. Service Recovered Complaints
2. Neglect of Duty Complaints
3. Incivility Complaints
4. Locally Resolved Complaints
5. Proportionately investigated complaints
6. Chief Officer Appeals

3

Page 18



 

 

IOPC REPORTS

Who

Quality of Service Manager

What

Analysing finalised Independent Office for Police Conduct reports regarding South Wales 
Police cases and the formal responses made by the South Wales Police Professional 
Standards Department and producing a response commenting on the matter as a whole. 
The report and response would be re-visited within 6 months of the response to ensure that 
SWP has complied with the recommendations made. 

When

August

How

Records will be kept of all reports provided by the IOPC and the responses made by SWP 
(this is reliant upon PSD informing us when a report has been received and responded to.) 
The Quality of Service Manager will analyse both and provide commentary, and the Quality 
of Service Officer will log all responses and bring them forward in 6 months’ time to check 
that the recommendations have been followed. This information will be collated and shared 
with PSD and the IOPC through highlight reporting and the six-monthly IOPC meetings. 

DIP SAMPLING OF MISCONDUCT/GRIEVANCE FILES

Who

Quality of Service Officer, Quality of Service Manager, and Engagement and Assurance 
Manager

What

Where a misconduct hearing/meeting or grievance hearing has taken place and is 
completely finalised (for example, where the appeal threshold has been passed and no 

5

4

Page 19



 

 

appeal has been made), the files will be dip sampled by the Quality of Service team to 
ascertain if there is a parity of decision making in relation to the outcome of the case and to 
ensure the correct processes have been followed. This will also be replicated in the case of 
HR grievance matters. 

Where

Commissioner’s team

When

Start August 2018

How

PSD and HR will provide the Quality of Service team with a list of cases that have been 
finalised within the last 6 months and have not been subject to an appeal (they can be 
anonymised if necessary). A small sample of those cases will be selected and will be 
analysed to ascertain if the procedures have been followed correctly and if there is parity of 
decision making. A report will be drafted for both PSD/HR and the leadership team which 
will feed back into the overall complaints highlight report. Any recommendations or 
commendations will be made by way of this report.

MEETING STRUCTURES

There will be a monthly meeting between the Head of Professional Standards and the 
Quality of Service Manager, during which any developments in respect of disciplinary or 
complaints issues are discussed. Looking forward, the QOS manager will also update the 
Chief Superintendent in respect of complaints appeals that have been dealt with by the 
OPCC and prospectively also any appeals that are addressed by the OPCC regarding 
performance requiring improvement processes. 

There will also be a monthly meeting between representatives from the IOPC, the Chief 
Superintendent of PSD and the Quality of Service Manager to discuss independent and 
managed IOPC cases. Any cases of note or likely to reported on by the media will be noted 
by the Quality of Service Manager who will report up to the Chief of Staff and the 
Commissioner. 

There will be a quarterly meeting between PSD, the OPCC and Legal Services to discuss any 
cases that potentially could be subject to pension forfeiture considerations, to ascertain if 

Page 20



 

 

they meet the threshold criteria and if so what evidence would need to be provided to 
supplement each application. This meeting should centre on cases that are still ongoing as 

consideration needs to be given to advising prosecuting counsel of potential pension 
forfeiture applications at sentencing stage.

There will be a six monthly meeting between the IOPC Director for Wales, the Deputy Chief 
Constable, and the Police and Crime Commissioner to discuss thematic issues that have 
arisen and need to be addressed, whether they are local or national. 

Jacqueline Trow

Quality of Service Manager

09/05/2018

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



2018 10 02 Apprenticeship Levy

Apprenticeship Levy, Finance Sub Group Update

2nd October 2018

 

 
Page 1 of 3

Apprenticeship Levy – Report by the Commissioner

I am pleased to report that interim funding arrangements, through a Special Grant process involving Welsh 
Government and the Home Office, has enabled us to go ahead with the introduction of the Policing Education 
Qualifications Framework (PEQF), or “Graduate Apprenticeship” in Wales.

I and the Chief Constable (and the other Commissioners in Wales) want to meet the aim of the Policing 
Education Qualifications Framework (PEQF) - to work in partnership with the police service and the Higher 
Education sector to meet new minimum education levels for the police service - as a means of increasing 
recognition of policing as a profession.  The difference that has arisen between England and Wales is not 
about a policy difference but about the funding mechanism to achieve this higher qualification standard.

 All police forces in England and Wales pay – to the Treasury - the Apprenticeship Levy at 0.5% of the payroll. 
This creates an Apprenticeship Fund and our understanding is that a share, based on the Barnett Formula, is 
given to Welsh Government. The Police Constable Degree Apprenticeship is recognised for funding by the 
Department of Education in England but skills policy is devolved and applications for funding in Wales have 
to meet the Welsh Government criteria for apprenticeship funding. Our problem is that the Police Constable 
Degree Apprenticeship does not qualify and of course Policing is not a devolved service.

We therefore have an inequitable position whereby the Apprenticeship Levy Fund is accessible to Police 
Forces in England but not to the four Forces in Wales. The higher professional standards within the PEQF 
attract additional recurring costs of delivery and therefore a recurring funding mechanism is essential if police 
recruitment and education standards are to remain consistent across Wales and England.    While the 
problem is not one of our making, the Welsh Police Forces have collaborated to ensure that a unified 
approach is adopted that will satisfy the College of Policing, Home Office and the National Police Chiefs’ 
Council vision of maintaining interoperability and consistent standards across England and Wales. A joint 
project has prepared the way for implementing the Graduate Apprenticeship in Wales.  

This work has provided an assessment that across policing in Wales around 600 police apprenticeships will 
be required over the next three years with an average annual cost of £2.8million per annum. The current 
actual levy paid by forces in 2017/18 was £1.97milion and we expect this to increase each year in line with 
wage inflation. 

The formal position in respect of the PEQF is clearly not tenable as it would involve police officers in Wales 
being treated and trained less favourably than police officers in England, but a solution is not in our hands so 
the pragmatic approach taken by the Home Office and Welsh Government is most welcome.  

From the Home Office, a Special Grant in the sum of £600,000 forms a partial contribution towards the 
estimated costs of £934,000 during 2018/19 financial year. Welsh Government is funding the balance of the 
cost of implementation from devolved finances. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 8



 
Commissioner’s Update Report (continued)

2018 05 25

 
Page 2 of 3

It is important to stress that these are interim funding arrangements so while we welcome the commitment 
to resolve longer term funding there is still a degree of uncertainty at present.  Because there is real urgency 
to make progress in filling gaps in the officer establishment (most urgently in South Wales) all four forces 
have now awarded the University contracts and entered into contractual commitments for the medium term.

The table below shows how it is intended to use the available funding to cover the additional costs in respect 
of implementation. This is mainly contractual fees based on the contract set-up and the number of students 
enrolled on the Police Constable Degree Apprenticeship.

 
 Dyfed 
Powys 
Police 

North 
Wales 
Police

Gwent & 
South Wales 
Police

Home Office 
Special Grant 
Allocation

Est. Welsh Govt 
Funding 
2018-19

  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000 £’000 

Tuition Fees Payable
           
110 

                    
45                  367                  522  

New Building Lease Costs                     78                     78 
                        
196 

Other Set-up Costs - 
Recruitment, Testing, 
Technology                      -   

                        
258 

Additional Trainers                      -    

Total                  
110 

                    
45                  445                  600 

                        
454 

The Special Grant administration, audit trail and allocation between forces will be managed by South Wales 
Police on behalf of the four Police Services.  We look forward to receiving the Special Grant allocation and to 
continued supportive dialogue in seeking an urgent resolution to the recurring funding deficit that has now 
crystallised.

Finance Sub Group Update

On behalf of the four Commissioners, I provided a finance briefing to the Welsh Government Partnership 
Council Finance Sub-Group on the 11th July 2018.

I explained the future financial challenges facing policing, which is exacerbated by the Home Office’s (HO) 
review of the Police Funding Formula.  By way of background, once the overall size of the policing budget is 
determined by the Home Office (via the Comprehensive Spending Review), then the amount of funding 
provided to respective Commissioners is determined by the Police Funding Formula.  It has been well 
publicised that the current formula is out-dated, overly complex, opaque and in need of review.  Following a 
‘false start’ to the review process during the latter half of 2015, the review was brought back on track with a 
hope to produce its findings by February/March 2017, with implementation for the 2018/19 financial year.  
However, it is believed that with the significant implications of the Brexit negotiations; the result of the ‘snap’ 
General Election in June 2017; and the significant increase in the threat of terrorism, the implementation has 

Page 24



 
Commissioner’s Update Report (continued)

2018 05 25

 
Page 3 of 3

been delayed.  Indeed, in the Provisional 2018/19 Police Funding Settlement (Provisional Settlement), which 
was announced in a Written Ministerial Statement (WMS) by the Minister of State for Policing and the Fire 
Service Nick Hurd MP on Tuesday 19th December 2017, the Minister stated: “I am grateful for the work of 
the Core Grant Distribution Review, earlier this year, which considered potential changes to the police 
funding formula.  In the context of changing demand and following my engagement with police leaders, 
providing funding certainty for 2019/20 is my immediate priority. It is intended that the funding formula will 
be revisited at the next Spending Review.”  

It is assumed therefore that any impact will not occur until the 2020/21 financial year following a potential 
2019 Comprehensive Spending Review.

It was also raised that within the overall Police Settlement, the Metropolitan Police Service, through the 
Greater London Authority, will continue to receive National and International Capital City (NICC) grant 
funding worth £173.6m.  The City of London Police will also continue to receive NICC grant funding worth 
£4.5m.  This is in recognition of the unique and additional demands of policing the capital city of the United 
Kingdom.  No such allocation is provided in recognition of Cardiff’s status as the capital city of Wales and the 
associated events held there that draw resources from South Wales Police and its neighbouring forces.  The 
Home Office has been lobbied on this matter for a number of years, but considers the additional demand 
that Cardiff’s status creates to be comparable with a large English city such as Bristol.  We do not believe that 
the comparison is valid

Alun Michael
21 September 2018

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Updated Paper from Partnership Council for Wales in May 2018 

 

Policing and Partnership in Wales 
“Everything is connected to everything else”

PURPOSE

To outline some of the partnership arrangements that are “live” in Wales, at a local 
level, Police Force level and at an All-Wales level, showing the active engagement of 
Policing with both devolved and non-devolved agencies

BACKGROUND

Policing is essentially local in nature, and while Legislative and Ministerial 
responsibility for policing are not devolved to Wales, the police operate in a devolved 
environment with significant decision-making devolved to the Police & Crime 
Commissioners while operational leadership sits with the Chief Constable. 

The demands on policing have changed.  Since 1998, policing has been at the heart 
of the partnership approach to community safety and the police make a significant 
contribution to Youth Offending Teams.  It is estimated that approximately 70% to 80% 
of calls now relate to non-crime issues including vulnerable people and mental health.  
Dealing with Serious and Organised Crime and Terrorism also links to local policing 
and partnership working, while there have been significant developments in terms of 
early intervention and prevention, with local partnership as a central theme.

DISCUSSION

There is sometimes a feeling that partners have a limited understanding of the 
contribution made by the police to the well-being and safety of our communities in 
Wales.  On the one hand, since policing is not devolved in terms of legislation and 
Ministerial responsibility, both the contribution and the pressures on the police may be 
overlooked.  On the other hand a “traditional” view of policing and being about “blue 
lights and pub fights” is often reinforced by the portrayal of police activity through film 
and television.  In reality, policing in Wales is probably closer than ever to the twin 
principles set out by Sir Robert Peel……………..

 The first responsibility of the Police is to prevent crime (success in policing is 
demonstrated by the absence of crime, not by the presence of activity) and

 The Police are the Community and the Community are the Police (in other 
words the police have to understand and be at the heart of the community)

Page 27



 
Updated Paper from Partnership Council for Wales in May 2018 

 

The Police are often the “agency of last resort”, particularly at night and over the 
weekend and the expectation of their capacity to respond is almost unlimited, whereas 
the other blue light services tend to have more clearly defined roles.  
Mental Health
Nowhere is this more apparent than in relation to “mental health”.  Front-line staff 
report that this is the most significant demand on their time, with significant delays 
when seeking a decision on individuals conveyed to mental health facilities. Following 
the Concordat on Crisis Care, launched at the Senedd, the use of Section 136 and 
135 powers has been significantly reduced, but there are concerns that options 
available for those not specifically requiring psychiatric care are limited. From the start 
it was felt that this should not be seen as a “policing problem” but a “nowhere else to 
go” problem.  Triage arrangements in police control centres or on the street are being 
tried and Welsh Government’s Oversight Group on Mental Health demonstrates the 
willingness of the police, professionals in health and social care and voluntary 
organisations to work together to tackle seemingly intractable problems.
Adverse Childhood Experiences
Policing in Wales has been significantly influenced by the Public Health Wales 
research that quantified the impact of four or more Adverse Childhood Experiences 
(ACEs) which provided dramatic evidence of the potential benefits for health, harm 
reduction and well-being of preventing ACEs and ameliorating their impact, 
summarised in the following table:

The first five are directly relevant to policing, and the partnership agreement for joint 
working between South Wales Police and Public Health Wales has now been 
extended to all four Forces and to other Criminal Justice Agencies operating in Wales.

Page 28



 
Updated Paper from Partnership Council for Wales in May 2018 

 

The ACEs research captured the imagination of Welsh Government Ministers and of 
Police Leaders, and a police pilot project in Maesteg is showing significant benefits to 
the police, to local government and to other partner agencies of working co-operatively 
in an ACE-informed way.

That has now resulted in a £6.8million grant from the Police Transformation Fund for 
an all-Wales Police ACEs initiative, with the programme linking closely to the Welsh 
Government’s ACEs Hub and to the work of Public Health Wales.  Oversight is being 
provided by the All-Wales Criminal Justice Board, which brings together the Criminal 
Justice Agencies with Policing and Welsh Government, with the added presence of 
Public Health Wales and Local Government (WLGA).  There is real determination to 
transform the way we address ACEs over the next two years in the belief that this will 
assist in tackling and reducing both criminality and health & well-being issues

Community Safety Boards / Partnerships
Community Safety Partnership working as required under the 1998 Crime and 
Disorder Act was hit hard by the cuts from 2010 onwards, with both Police and Local 
Government losing both expertise and analytic capacity that supported joint working.  
Commissioners generally maintained their financial support, but capacity became a 
significant issue.  When the Cabinet Secretary announced plans to refresh Community 
Safety in Wales, the Police & Crime Commissioners and Chief Constables welcomed 
the opportunity to be part of the Oversight Group. This was already a key area of 
partnership working, with Police and Crime Commissioners providing Community 
Safety Funding to assist in targeting local issues through a partnership approach. We 
welcome the fact that there is an increasingly consistent model whereby community 
safety is clearly aligned to the work of the Public Service Board, thus enabling policing 
activity to support and inform other initiatives. Each Commissioner agreed to take the 
lead in refreshing local community safety arrangements, working with the Chief 
Constable, Local Government and partners and efforts are being made to develop the 
analytic capability to inform “baseline audits” of community safety although this is 
proving a serious challenge. Policing in Wales (the Commissioners and Chief 
Constables) agreed a joint approach with the WLGA to fund a co-ordination post with 
the support of Welsh Government, and Steve Carr took up this role in August, based 
in the WLGA offices in Cardiff.

Neighbourhood Policing
Despite having lost roughly a third of the money that comes to Policing through the 
Home Office’s Police Grant since 2010, the Forces in Wales have not stepped back 
from Neighbourhood Policing into a “response-only model”, are more engaged than 
ever in a partnership approach.  In South Wales an in-depth review is under way and 
our approach to our communities has a clear focus on early intervention and prompt 
positive action.  

Page 29



 
Updated Paper from Partnership Council for Wales in May 2018 

 

The contribution of an additional 500 Community Support Officers by Welsh 
Government (200 in South Wales) has been a crucial element of engagement with 
local communities.  Local Councillors and other partners frequently comment on the 
value of this local engagement but it relates directly to some major issues, such as 
engagement and reassurance with Muslim communities and an increasing capacity 
for there to be a “problem solving” with the local community.

Strategic Engagement
The most obvious example of strategic engagement is with the Public Services Boards 
(PSBs) established under the Well-Being of Future Generations Act.  While Policing 
cannot be required to participate, Welsh Government decided that the Police & Crime 
Commissioner and the Chief Constable should be “statutory invitees” to each PSB. In 
general, that has been seized with alacrity and they have made a significant 
contribution to the local work.

Public Services Boards
Progress has been made on aligning strategic priorities across Public Service Boards. 
In South Wales, there is a clear connection between the priorities within the Police and 
Crime Plan and Well-being Plans. This is especially the case in relation of community 
safety and the ambition to create safe, confident and resilient communities, but also in 
relation to those priorities with a focus on improving health and well-being. It is a 
common theme in Well-Being Plans and reflects the reality that “everything is 
connected to everything else” and the need for early intervention and prompt positive 
action to tackle the drivers of criminal behaviour. The next phase of translating words 
into action and implementing the delivery of priorities will allow us to align activity in 
terms of night-time economy, youth offending, violence against women, girls, and 
young people much of which is already partnership based.  Again, these are common 
themes in several Well-Being Plans as illustrated in the tables in Annex A.

Schools Liaison Scheme
A partnership between Welsh Government and the four Police Forces has led to 
significant and much-admired placement of police officers in schools, presenting to 
pupils on a variety of issues including substance misuse and abuse.  In South Wales 
in particular this has been refreshed in recent times, with a greater emphasis on 
engagement with the wider school community and links to the local policing team.  The 
Welsh Government share of funding was projected to end this year, but following 
discussions with Cabinet Secretaries Mark Drakeford, Alun Davies and Vaughan 
Gething that threat has been lifted and we are having productive talks with Welsh 
Government about making the most of the wider benefits of the scheme in future years.   

Support for Victims
Police & Crime Commissioners have been given a key role in supporting victims, and 
have established models pf providing support for victims, utilising a partnership 
approach with third sector providers and a victim-centred model of service delivery.

Page 30



 
Updated Paper from Partnership Council for Wales in May 2018 

 

In our case, South Wales Victim Focus is delivered by Victim Support and is our core 
service for victims.  It provides free and confidential needs-led help and support to 
anyone affected by crime. Last year 59,965 people were referred into the service, 
12,646 people received a needs assessment and 3,721 people received in depth 
support from our local teams. People who accessed the service were helped to 
understand the information, advice and services available to them, and said that they 
felt safer and their health and wellbeing had improved.  We also use the Community 
Fund to provide money for third sector partners to support victims through innovative 
community initiatives

Major Events and the profile of Wales
In recent times, Wales has had an increasing profile on the international stage, with 
events such as the NATO Summit, the UEFA Championship League Cup Final and 
the recent Joshua fights.  In each case, this has required significant joint planning by 
the police, the Council and Welsh Government.  It is a success story but comes at a 
heavy price in terms of police time – and it is a constant problem that the Home Office 
provides no “Capital City Funding” to recognise the burden on policing in Wales that 
result in higher security demands and an unremitting programme of major events. The 
Policing Minister Rt Hon Nick Hurd has agreed to meet us to discuss the issue.

Night time Economy
A number of initiatives have made people safer in the night-time economy in different 
parts of Wales.  The example that is easiest to quantify is the HelpPoint in Swansea, 
which was an initiative by the Commissioner’s team through which student volunteers 
and St John medics look after vulnerable people instead of relying on ambulances and 
Emergency Department treatment. 

In 12 months the initiative……….
 Saved 1,300 ambulance journeys
 Saved 1,100 admissions to A&E and 
 On 1,300 occasions put police officers back on the streets to keep the peace.

It is funded jointly by South Wales Police, ABMU and WAST. Similar benefits come 
from the Alcohol Treatment Centre in Cardiff and other initiatives.  

Working with the alcohol education charity Drinkaware, the Commissioner launched 
a new scheme to safeguard students and raise awareness of sexual harassment 
within the night-time economy.  The Drink Aware “Club Crew” work in student venues 
across the five universities in South Wales and have received specialist training to 
support those who are vulnerable as a result of drinking too much alcohol. Their 
support means many students can be kept safe from becoming victims of crime. Since 
the launch, over 520 vulnerable individuals have been supported, helping to keep our 
students safe while reducing demand placed on frontline services. 

Page 31



 
Updated Paper from Partnership Council for Wales in May 2018 

 

 
Other examples of work to keep students and others safe include ………..:

 Drink Less Enjoy More Campaign
 Student Safety Bus
 Vulnerability Training

Youth Offending and young people
Partnership working and collaboration is crucial in maintaining links between police 
officers working in schools, youth offending teams and local police teams to identify 
underlying issues and tackling them through early intervention and prompt, positive 
action.  A review of Police Officers attached to YOS was undertaken in March 2017, 
and the recommendations were implemented in 2017/18 to expand on what the role 
has been able to achieve to date.

The Youth Offending Service (YOS) continues to receive funding from Police & Crime 
Commissioners as well as seconded police officers as part of the YOS team.   YOS 
continues to be a success story, with the number of first-time offenders who reoffend 
still coming down year on year. Using evidence from the ACEs research, and working 
with the Youth Justice Board, Public Health Wales and Youth Offending Service (YOS) 
managers, we have been developing an ACE-informed way of assessing and 
intervening at the point of a second offence as well as supporting the delivery of 
Enhanced Case Management approach that has been developed by the Youth Justice 
Board in Wales.

Tackling offending in the 18 – 25 age group
Police funds in South Wales have been used to develop an initiative that tackles 
offending at the time of a first offence and provides young people with an alternative 
pathway to the criminal justice system. Initial reviews have highlighted the benefits of 
early intervention and prevention approach and uncovered some of the underlying 
factors driving behaviour, such as mental health, emotional/relationship issues, 
anxiety with clear links to ACEs and the benefits of early intervention.

Violence Against Women and Girls
We continue to deliver against the Tackling Violence against Women and Girls Plan, 
not least by funding the introduction of services like IRIS (Identification and Referral to 
Improve Safety). This is a health-based initiative was designed to enable GPs and 
staff within doctors’ surgeries in Cardiff & Vale UHB area to identify and respond to 
patients who show signs that they may be affected by domestic abuse or violence. 
This resulted in referrals for 212 people and for 140 of them it was the first time they 
had ever told someone who could offer them help and support.  Increased referrals 
are enabling support for abused women and earlier intervention, leading to a reduction 
in demand on a variety of services.  Both Cardiff & Vale and Cwm Taf UHB have now 
taken on the responsibility for continuing the service and it is hoped that ABMU will 

Page 32



 
Updated Paper from Partnership Council for Wales in May 2018 

 

follow before the end of the year. Again, there is support for a number of initiatives as 
well as close engagement by Public Protection policing with Councils and other 
partners on a day-to-day basis.

Offending by women 
Police Forces in Wales have worked together and with Welsh Government and with 
the National Probation Service and other partners to develop an intervention service 
known as the Women’s Pathfinder for reacting quickly when a women starts to offend 
by identifying the background and challenges that might lead to further offending and 
associated issues such as childcare and protection issues.  The approach has 
received recognition outside Wales and a decision from Welsh Government is 
currently awaited on the next stage of a significant development for Wales.

Housing - Anti-social Behaviour and Vulnerability  
A programme to work ‘with’ organisations and tenants, enabling social landlords to 
deal effectively with Anti-social Behaviour and vulnerability, has been commissioned, 
through the Welsh Government ‘Preventing Homelessness Fund’.  Assistant 
Commissioner Bonnie Navarra leads the work with a team of six secondees from 
within the housing sector, with a Chief Inspector providing project support. 

From a Policing perspective, it is important to prevent minor neighbourhood issues 
escalating, and becoming a policing issue. A number of previous, paper based tools, 
issued by Welsh Government (since 2004) to improve standards across the housing 
sector, have not had the intended impact so instead a practical, ‘Facilitated Self-
Assessment’ model will be delivered in-house by experts.  It has been trialled in 
Trivallis (RCT Homes) and Cardiff Council Housing, and an independent evaluation 
has been submitted to Minister Rebecca Evans, with a view to all-Wales roll-out. 

Information Sharing Pilot
A pilot between the Police and Trivallis Homes has developed an innovative solution 
to sharing information between the Police and Housing, showing how identification of 
vulnerable people can be improved in order to intervene at the earliest opportunity and 
prevent issues escalating.  Half of the properties of social landlords are now on the 
police system, NICHE, enabling closer partnership working with housing. 

Newer challenges, including Cyber Crime
Police constantly have to respond to new demands, not least the changing face of 
terrorism and extremism, and the threat of cyber-crime as people increasingly live their 
lives online. It is challenging to develop the necessary digital skills within police training 
while putting a clear focus on digital forensics, cyber-crime and data analytics, both as 
a specific module and worked into other existing training. What requires partnership 
working is making cyber security a corporate social responsibility for police forces, for 
companies and for other public bodies.

Page 33



 
Updated Paper from Partnership Council for Wales in May 2018 

 

Other issues 
This paper has highlighted a number of areas of public policy in which Policing in 
Wales makes a significant contribution to partnership working.  Other examples of 
“Added Value” would include the Police Youth Volunteers (Cadets) which have been 
developed in recent years and continue to expand.  So this paper is not exhaustive 
and there are many basic areas of working and a variety of challenging circumstances 
in which the police work with partners to prevent or respond to harm to vulnerable 
people.  This includes missing persons, combatting Child Sexual Exploitation and 
tackling Modern Slavery – and the ACEs work referred to earlier has direct relevance 
to much of this day-to-day work. There is also a plethora of operational partnerships 
and joint working arrangements with which partners at this table will be familiar.  

The intention behind this paper is simply to highlight some of the varied 
initiatives and contributions made through the work of Police & Crime 
Commissioners and Chief Constables and their respective teams to well-being 
in Wales and to the work of a variety of partners, not least in Local Government 
and the Health Service, which is in addition to the “basics” of policing – public 
safety, investigation of crime, public order, neighbourhood policing work with 
other Blue Light Services and the rest.

ACTION

Members of the Partnership Council noted the contribution made by 
Policing in Wales to local partnership working and to the Well-Being of 
people in Wales generally.

Rt Hon Alun Michael 
(Police & Crime Commissioner for South Wales, representing the four Police & 
Crime Commissioners in Wales)

23 April 2018

Page 34



 
Updated Paper from Partnership Council for Wales in May 2018 

 

Annex A – Highlight engagement examples

Examples of Themes/Objectives from PSBs across South Wales

The table below illustrates the strategic links, especially in terms of community safety, 
in PSB Well-Being Plans across South Wales.

Local 
Authority Area

 Well Being Objectives/Themes

Bridgend  Best Start in Life
 Support Communities in Bridgend to be safe and cohesive
 Reduce Social and Economic Inequalities
 Healthy Choices in a Healthy Environment

Cardiff  Cardiff is a great place to live, work and play
 Cardiff has a thriving and prosperous economy
 People in Cardiff are safe and feel safe
 People in Cardiff are healthy
 People in Cardiff achieve their full potential
 People in Cardiff have a clean, attractive and sustainable environment

Neath
Port Talbot

 Support children in their early years, especially children at risk of 
adverse childhood experiences

 Create safe, confident and resilient communities
 Encourage ageing well
 Promote well-being through the workplace

Cwm Taf 
(RCT + Merthyr)

 To promote safe, confident and strong and thriving communities 
improving the well-being of residents and visitors and building on our 
community assets

 To help people live long and healthy lives and overcome any 
challenges

 To grow a strong local economy with sustainable transport that attracts 
people to live, work and play in Cwm Taf

Swansea  Children have a good start in life to be the best they can be
 People live and age well
 Working with nature to improve health
 Building stronger communities

Vale of 
Glamorgan

 Enable people to get involved, participate in their local communities 
and shape local services

 Reduce poverty and tackle inequalities linked to deprivation
 Give children the best start in life
 Protect, enhance and value the environment 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



2018 10 02 Chief Finance Officer Appointment

Report to the Police and Crime Panel – Chief Finance Officer

2nd October 2018

 

 
Page 1 of 4

Purpose of Report

To notify the Panel of the proposed appointment of a new Commissioners Chief Finance Officer (Treasurer), 
in line with the requirements of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 Schedule 1 9 (1).

Recommendation

In accordance with the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, Schedule 1 9 (1)(b)  the Panel is 
invited to review the proposed appointment of Mr Peter as Chief Finance Officer to the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for South Wales and to recommend to the Commissioner whether the candidate should be 
appointed in accordance with Schedule 1 10 (4) of the Act.

1.0 Background

1.1 When the Commissioner proposes to appoint a Chief Executive, Chief Finance Officer (Treasurer) or 
Deputy Commissioner (referred to as Schedule 1 appointments) the Commissioner must notify the 
Panel of the following information:
(a) The name of the person he is proposing to appoint
(b) The criteria used to assess the suitability of the candidate. 
(c) Why the candidate satisfies the criteria ;  and
(d) The terms and conditions on which the candidate is to be appointed. 

1.2 Schedule 1 10 of the Act requires the Panel to review each proposed appointment and make a 
report the Commissioner which must include a recommendation as to whether or not the 
candidate should be appointed.  This must be done within a period of three weeks beginning with 
the day on which the Panel receives the notification from the Commissioner of the proposed senior 
appointment.

1.3 Schedule 1 11 of the Act requires the Panel to hold a confirmation hearing before making a report 
and recommendation under paragraph 10 to the Police and Crime Commissioner.   

1.4 Schedule 1 paragraph 12 allows the Police and Crime Commissioner the right to accept or reject the 
Panel’s recommendation and he must notify the Panel of his decision.

Page 37

Agenda Item 10



 
Commissioner’s Update Report (continued)

2018 05 25

 
Page 2 of 4

2.     Appointment of Chief Finance Officer 

2.1     The name of the proposed Candidate 

The name of the person I propose to appoint to the position of Chief Finance Officer is Mr Peter 
Thomas Curran.

2.2 The criteria Used to Assess the Suitability of the Candidate for the Appointment

2.2.1 Schedule 1 paragraph 6(b) states that the Police and Crime Commissioner must appoint a person to 
be responsible for the proper administration of the Commissioner’s financial affairs, referred to as 
the Commissioner’s Chief Finance Officer.  

2.2.2 In order to place this appointment in context I have defined the main responsibilities of my Chief 
Finance Officer which are to –

 Be responsible for providing professional advice to the Commissioner and for the proper 
administration of the Police and Crime Commissioner’s responsibilities in relation to financial affairs 
(section 112 to 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988) in accordance with the Accounts 
and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2005. 

 Provide financial advice to the Police and Crime Commissioner on all aspects of the activities of the 
South Wales Police, including the Commissioner’s own team, and financial aspects of the strategic 
planning and policy making process. 

 Ensure that the financial affairs of the Police and Crime Commissioner are properly administered 
and that the Financial Regulations are observed and kept up to date and providing a treasury 
management function. 

 Ensure regularity, propriety and Value for Money in the use of public funds. 

 Ensure that the funding necessary to finance agreed programmes is available from Central 
Government and Welsh Government funding, precept, other contributions and recharges and that 
any risks or shortfalls are identified and properly understood. 

 Report to the Police and Crime Commissioner, the Police and Crime Panel, the Joint Audit 
Committee and to the external auditor any unlawful, or potentially unlawful, expenditure by the 
Police and Crime Commissioner or officers of the Police and Crime Commissioner. 

 Report to the Police and Crime Commissioner, the Police and Crime Panel, the Joint Audit 
Committee and to the external auditor where is appears that expenditure is likely to exceed the 
resources available to meet that expenditure. 

Page 38



 
Commissioner’s Update Report (continued)

2018 05 25

 
Page 3 of 4

 Advise the Police and Crime Commissioner on the robustness of the budget and adequacy of 
financial reserves, and in respect of any consequential medium and long term implications of 
budgetary issues. 

 Ensure production of the statements of accounts of the Police and Crime Commissioner. 

 Ensure receipt and scrutiny of the statements of accounts of the Chief Constable, and ensuring 
production of the group statutory accounts.

 Liaise with the external auditor and using reports of the external auditor to aid monitoring. To 
submit external audit reports to the Home Office.

 Advise the Police and Commissioner on the application of value for money principles by the South 
Wales Police force and supporting the Police and Crime Commissioner in holding the Chief 
Constable to account for efficient and effective financial management.

 Advise, in consultation with the Chief of Staff, on the safeguarding of assets, including risk 
management and insurance. 

 Arrange for the determination and issue of the precept. 

 Maintain an adequate and effective internal audit function, and managing, in conjunction with the 
Chief of Staff, any grants awarded by the Police and Crime Commissioner pursuant to the Police 
Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

2.2.3 Criteria to perform the duties

The criteria I used to assess the candidate was that he or she should be able to demonstrate:
 Evidence of operating at a senior level
 Commitment to innovation and performance improvement
 Evidence of ability to build effective working relationships
 Familiarity with best practice, change management and leadership
 Ability to promote ideas and reach mutually beneficial solutions

The candidate must be a member of CIPFA – the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountability 

2.3     Why the Candidate Satisfies the Criteria

Mr Curran ……..
A) Is presently the Director of Finance and Corporate Services (section 151 Officer) for Sport 

Wales
B) Prior to his existing role occupied several senior positions such as Director of Finance at 

Aberystwyth University, Director of Finance and vice Principal at the Royal Welsh College of 
Music and Drama, as well as assistant Director of finance at Cardiff Metropolitan University 
and experience as an accountant for Cardiff City Council.

C) Has a highly relevant technical and proven managerial track record.
D) Has the required qualifications for the role and is a member of CIPFA
E) Convinced the selection panel’s financial specialist, the current Treasurer for the Police and 

Crime Commissioner for Gwent, that he has the required technical ability to fulfil the role. 

Page 39



 
Commissioner’s Update Report (continued)

2018 05 25

 
Page 4 of 4

F) The panel were convinced that he has the necessary resilience to perform the required 
duties to a high standard. 

It is therefore my view - and that of the Selection Panel (myself, the Deputy Chief Constable and 
the Chief Finance Officer for Gwent and supported by an experienced HR partner from South Wales 
Police) that Mr Curran is an outstanding candidate, with highly relevant professional skills & 
experience.
 

2.4 Terms and Conditions of Appointment

The general terms & conditions are attached (Appendix a). The appointment is full time and is 
politically restricted.  

2.5 Financial Considerations

The salary will be £83,975 and it will be contained within existing budgetary provisions.

2.6      Appointments Process

I was advised on the appointment by a specialist in public sector finance so that I could be 
confident that the successful candidate had the requisite professional skills to perform the role to 
the required standard. I was prepared to wait until I could appoint a candidate with the right 
experience and qualifications. I am confident, as were my advisors on the panel, that Mr Curran is 
that person.  

Page 40



 

 

              

ANNUAL REPORT 2017/19
A summary of our impact

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 11



 

 

Contents

1. Commissioner’s Introduction

2. Progress against Police and Crime Plan 2017-2021

3. Grants and Funding 2017-18

4. Partnership and Collaboration

5. Statutory Responsibility and Corporate Governance 

6. Financial Summary 2017 / 18

7. Looking ahead to 2018 / 19 and beyond 

P
age 42



 

 

1. Commissioner’s Introduction

I am pleased to introduce my annual report for the financial year 2017-2018.  This report summarises the work my team and I have carried out during another 
busy, challenging but enjoyable year.  The economic environment remains very challenging and, if we are not to lose valuable services, we must continue to 
shrink together, not apart as in recent years.  Key to this is our ability to work in partnership.  As Police and Crime Commissioner, I am uniquely placed to act 
as a catalyst for partnership across a wide range of devolved and non-devolved services.  During the past year, we continued to play an active role on the six 
Public Service Boards across South Wales as they look to embed the findings of their Wellbeing plans and objectives for future service design and delivery.  
An important element across all the Public Service Boards has been direct alignment with Community Safety Partnerships, something both Welsh 
Government and the Welsh Local Government Association have also supported. This has led to a ground-breaking agreement between Policing in Wales (the 
four Commissioners and the four Chief Constables) and the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) is funding the costs of creating a Community 
Safety Co-ordinator role to support local partnership working across Wales.

There has been a continued focus on early intervention and Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs). This is building on the original work conducted in South 
Wales Police and is now being developed into an all Wales approach to policing vulnerability, using the international growing body of ACE evidence to inform 
what we do. At the heart of a £6.8million programme, supported by the Police Transformation Fund, is the use of the ACEs research to provide an 
understanding of policing vulnerability and an understanding of the way that the consequences of ACEs span from childhood to adulthood.  

Public Service Boards (PSBs) are being mandated across Wales to focus their local needs assessments on wellbeing, with ACEs forming a cornerstone of 
how partners will respond. This will provide the opportunity for the programme to be owned locally and coordinated with key partners who hold the levers, 
which can reduce demand and mitigate against the impact of ACEs. These key partners include other justice services such as Prisons, Probation and 
substance misuse services as well as wider social partners such as housing, education, health and social services. This approach is underpinned by an ethos 
of coproduction

The year has seen activity across all areas of my Plan and positive progress continues to be made.  There continue to be resource challenges across the 
police service and I remain encouraged to see how much South Wales Police is developing its people and services during these challenging times. I remain 
committed to enabling South Wales Police to be an efficient and effective force and this annual report provides an overview of how I have worked to do this 
during the last year.

P
age 43



 

 

2.  Progress against Police and Crime Reduction Plan 2016-21: April 2017- March 2018 

This section highlights progess in 2017-18 towards delivering the priorities in my Police and Crime Plan 2016-21.

PRIORITY 1

We will reduce and prevent crime and anti-social behaviour 
to keep people safe in their homes and in their communities

Together with the Force, we have continued to be tough on crime and the causes of crime through strong local policing that works in 
the community to make sure that people in South Wales are safe. 

Funded by the Commissioner through Youth Offending contributions, StaySafe is a joint project with Cardiff Youth Offending Services and 
South Wales Police.  It aims to reduce anti-social behaviour, safeguard children, reduce first time entrants to the criminal justice system, 
develop a vibrant and safe night time economy, assist people and communities to feel safe and reduce damaging alcohol consumption. During 
2017-18, a total of 75 operations were run across the city engaging with approximately 3,000 young people who received a range of assistance 
and advice regarding drug and alcohol use, contraception and information on how to stay safe.

We have also continued to support and promote ‘Club Crew’ during the year.  Following on from its introduction in September 2016, the results 
from the first academic term of the Club Crew initiative have demonstrated its impact in safeguarding students within the night time economy.

Through collaboration between the Police & Crime Commissioner, Drink Aware and the South Wales Student Unions, the Club Crew safeguard 
students by raising awareness of sexual harassment and supporting those who are vulnerable. The Crew work in pairs throughout the evening, 
engaging customers, checking high-risk areas and ensuring that people leave safely when the venue closes. Since its inception the Club Crew 
have supported over 1000 individuals.

Accompanying the first September term of the Club Crew scheme was a social media awareness campaign entitled ‘Wouldn’t Shouldn’t’.  This 
focused on groping and sexual harassment within the night time economy. This campaign gained huge traction on social media, with 180,000 
18-24 year olds viewing the campaign on Facebook, 96,000 through Twitter and 184,322 individuals via cinema advertising. This campaign has 
evolved to focus on encouraging individuals to be active bystanders if they see someone on the receiving end of sexual harassment. The main 

P
age 44



 

 

campaign message was ‘If you see someone being harassed on a night out, it’s ok to ask if they are ok’.  This message reached 172,928 18-24 
year olds 7.7 times. In total 55,624, ‘took an action’ i.e. clicked on the link, shared it, viewed it, liked it or commented. 

We have also sustained the success of the ‘Drink Less Enjoy More’ campaign from previous years and adapted the campaign messaging and 
imaging to ensure it remains relevant to evolving issues. In September 2017, we focused on the issue of ‘pre-loading’ with the clear messaging 
that if individuals pre-drank to excess they would not be allowed entry into premises and their night would end early. We sustained this focus 
through autumn rugby internationals, Halloween and Christmas. As an example of the campaign’s success, during the autumn internationals, 
the campaign had 560.420 impressions on social media and reached 184,115 individuals. 

In addition, the ‘Help Point’ continues to be delivered in Swansea in partnership with St Johns Ambulance, Health Boards, Welsh Ambulance 
Service Trust and Universities. To date 3,804 people have been treated at the Help Point - an average of just under 90 a month. With only 13% 
of attendees needing further treatment at the Emergency Department,  that equates to 3,329 saved ambulance calls over a 43 month period 
and a significant number of police officer hours saved by not having to wait for an ambulance to arrive.   

Public Health Wales reports continue to be produced and utilised to provide a current picture of violence across each South Wales Basic 
Command Unit (BCU) in terms of the prevalence of violence, type of assaults, and location of violence alongside assault victim demography. 
This enables police and local partnerships to target intervention and prevention strategies for violence within their communities. In 2017-18, we 
developed proformas that police and partners complete to monitor how the reports are being used and to track progress against any actions.

In conjunction with the Portman Group, The South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner hosted a Best Practice Night Time Economy event in 
the Principality Stadium in November 2017. The event was hosted as part of the Home Office Local Alcohol Action Area programme and with 
over 130 attendees; the event demonstrated the excellent work that takes place to make South Wales night time economies safe.  To support 
the event a brochure was produced to highlight the good work.

We are always working to improve our understanding of and response to incidents of Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB). One way we have done this 
is through a pilot project, which involved sharing information between Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) and the police. This is an innovative, 
sustainable solution to sharing information and a way in which the identification of vulnerable people can be improved and escalation of issues 
can be prevented at the earliest opportunity.  This pilot proved successful and has now been rolled out across South Wales, whereby, half of all 
of the social housing properties are now registered on the police record management system.  This allows us to work closer with local 
authorities and housing associations to ensure we are providing a multi-agency approach to early intervention and identification of issues of 
vulnerability.

A proof of concept project called the ‘Review Together’ pilot was created during the year in order to develop an innovative approach to improve 
the way social landlords identify and respond to anti-social behaviour, vulnerability, preventing homelessness and evictions.  This was funded 
by the Welsh Government to work with organisations and tenants to develop relational approaches to improve the culture, practices and 

P
age 45



 

 

performance of social landlords.  From a policing perspective, it is important for social landlords to respond effectively to their tenants in order 
to prevent minor neighbourhood issues escalating and becoming a policing matter and/or a criminal offence.

During the year, we have also continued to work with our Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs) to consider ways to develop them and 
bring them the recognition they deserve in their unique community roles.  We recognise the important role they play in communities and in the 
prevention of crime and Anti-Social Behaviour.  As a result, we have worked to strengthen their initial training to focus on developing their skills 
to deal with community and partnership issues, including a more detailed understanding of mental health support.  We have also worked on 
ways to formally recognise PCSO contributions and have jointly established recognition events for nominated PCSOs every quarter.  

PRIORITY 2

We will improve the way in which we connect with, involve, 
and inform our communities

Throughout the year, we have continued to work closely with our partners and our local communities to ensure that they have had 
the opportunity to shape and influence our work and decisions.  We have also conducted inspection activities to find out how the 
force is performing in a number of areas in order to provide information to the public, and we have worked to encourage under-
represented members of the community to be more visible in South Wales Police.

In June 2017, we established a new ‘Police Accountability & Legitimacy Group’, chaired by the Commissioner’s Chief of Staff.  This group 
consists of representatives of partner organisations with an interest in equality and accountability.  The group assists us in our scrutiny role of 
South Wales Police by providing a critical friend input into South Wales Police performance and practice with the aim of pushing for 
improvement on behalf of the public.  The group meets every quarter and some of the issues discussed in meetings have included hate crime 
victim satisfaction, stop, search, and use of force.
During the year, we analysed the responses provided by hate crime victims to the South Wales Police Telephone Research Unit.  We found 
that most victims were happy with the treatment they received by officers and that most people that had reported would do so again.  This led 
us to develop a video that would encourage other hate crime victims to report to South Wales Police.  During Hate Crime Awareness Week 
2017, we launched an animated video, which looked to encourage reporting and explain the positive service South Wales Police provides to 
hate crime victims.  During the coming year we aim to publicise and share this video as widely as possible.

P
age 46



 

 

We have engaged with young people, including those from Black & Minority Ethnic communities, about their experiences and understanding of 
stop and search.  Whilst doing this we have taken the opportunity to hand out and explain our ‘Know Your Rights’ information leaflets that we 
began to develop last year.  These leaflets have now been widely distributed and inform community members about what to expect if they are 
stopped and searched, what their rights are and how they can make a complaint if they wish to.
We have also conducted a range of stop search dip sampling exercises during the year, whereby we have checked a random sample of 
completed stop search forms to check the searches have been legitimate and appropriately explained.  These exercises have shown that the 
majority of stop searches appear to have been fair and legitimate but where we have identified areas for improvement, the findings have been 
communicated to appropriate lead officers for consideration.
Ensuring our workforce more closely reflects the communities we serve is crucial in ensuring that we are able to engage with our diverse 
communities. Our Representative Workforce Programme has been in operation throughout the year to enable us to jointly work towards 
improving the representation of BME and female officers.  By the beginning of 2018, we had around 200 volunteer Development Champions to 
support people from Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) communities through the application process for South Wales Police roles. In April 2016, 
when the programme was initiated, there were no BME recruits in the Police Constable recruitment intake.  As of March 2018, we had seen a 
total of 46 BME people begin to work with South Wales Police, including as police officers, PCSOs, Special Constables and in our Public 
Service Centre.  We have also established an internal support programme to provide tailored development to BME officers wishing to progress 
through the ranks.    
We are also working to improve the numbers of female officers across all ranks and have made a number of changes via our ‘Plan for Female 
Recruitment, Progression & Retention’.  For example, we have revised the South Wales Police Flexible Working Policy to make it more positive 
and consistent; we have developed a Pregnancy Champion Scheme to support women during pregnancy and maternity, and introduced 
positive action events to support female officers considering promotion.  
During the year, we have also worked with partners to carry out research work on sexual harassment and are the lead force in Wales to do so 
working alongside our public service partners and the third sector. The aim of the campaign is to challenge and change the culture of misogyny 
and sexual harassment wherever it may arise in order for individuals to feel safe in their community and to have the freedom to make life 
choices without fear of sexual harassment. A pilot survey was carried out which then led to a wider All Wales Survey that is being progressed.

P
age 47



 

 

PRIORITY 3

We will work to protect the most vulnerable in our 
communities

Understanding the needs of the most vulnerable people in our community and working to protect them, as well as sharing our 
learning, has continued to be at the forefront of our work in 2017-18.

In July 2017, the UK Government awarded the South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner £1.4 million from the Tackling Violence against 
Women and Girls Transformation fund – the largest share of the £17 million fund after a successful bid. This grant promotes projects that are 
leading the way in stopping violence before it happens, preventing abusive behaviour from becoming entrenched, and establishing the best 
ways to help victims and their families.  The £1.4 million awarded to the Police and Crime Commissioner will allow us to expand successful 
schemes and test new initiatives such as the Change that Lasts – which will introduce community disclosure points, and rolling out the ‘Ask Me’ 
scheme. Up to 30 community ambassadors will be trained to identify the signs of abuse and to provide safe spaces within communities where 
women can report it.

A joint bid led by Merseyside’s Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner was also submitted to the Home Office Violence against Women 
and Girls (VAWG) Service Transformation Fund. This project will compliment ongoing work with local partner agencies in order to help protect 
sex workers from sexual violence, exploitation and trafficking. South Wales were awarded £187,000 from the Service Transformation Fund. In 
place until March 2020, the project will adopt a victim-centred approach to help sex workers who are already victims and those who are at risk, 
and explore support options for those engaging in sex work online.  To support this project, police Chiefs in Cardiff and Swansea will assign 
dedicated officers to work with the project advocacy service.

We undertake enhanced collaboration with our partners via our South Wales Violence Against Women Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 
(VAWDASV) Collaborative Programme Board. Partners from Health, local authorities, the third sector, Fire and Rescue services and specialist 
service providers make up the board’s membership. This board has oversight of the work being undertaken in relation to VAWDASV with a 
particular focus on the delivery of the Home Office ‘Tackling Violence against Women and Girls Service Transformation’ fund. Partners of this 
board work together across the region to share information, learning and data, and opportunities that seek to support systems change.

VAWDASV Executive group meetings are held on a quarterly basis in each local authority area to discuss local services, planning, delivery and 
progress in relation to local VAWDASV strategies. We attend each meeting to share and update on progress in relation to the Transformation 

P
age 48



 

 

Fund and to enable partners at a local level to inform the development of programmes of work relating to VAWDASV, and collectively raise any 
common issues with Welsh Government.

As part of efforts by the government and law enforcement to better understand the nature of prostitution and sex work, the University of Bristol 
has been granted £150,000 to carry out a new research project. Formally commissioned by the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
for South Wales, the award followed an open tender process, during which researchers and academics were asked to submit proposals for 
developing a comprehensive understanding of contemporary prostitution and sex work. The University of Bristol’s research will help support law 
enforcement and government efforts to protect vulnerable people by assessing the different types of prostitution – such as on-street, off-street 
and online – its extent in England and Wales and any possible links to trafficking for the purposes of sex work.  In 2016, following the Home 
Affairs Select Committee report on prostitution, the government accepted that there was a need for further research on the nature and 
prevalence of prostitution in England and Wales – something we had already recognised here in South Wales. We have worked closely with 
the Home Office to commission research to better inform understanding about prostitution.

Between August and November 2017, telephone interviews were undertaken with victims of domestic abuse. The in-house telephone research 
unit at South Wales Police, between 6-12 weeks after the incident was reported, conducted the interviews. We invested in additional resources 
in order to better understand the victim’s experience, recognise good practice and enhance operational policing responses. Through this 
survey, we also identified further opportunities for victims to shape and influence service through the Victims Voice Project.  A total of 61 victim 
satisfaction surveys were completed, showing that 93% were satisfied with the treatment they received from South Wales Police.

Through our work with specialist service providers, we regularly seek to ensure meaningful and regular dialogue with domestic abuse survivors 
that support legitimate opportunities to help shape domestic abuse services, inform decision-making and contribute to the development of 
awareness raising and training. We attend quarterly meetings of the SEEdS (Survivors Empowering and Educating Services) group, facilitated 
by Welsh Women’s Aid. 

The South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner and South Wales Police also supports the White Ribbon Campaign to end violence against 
women and girls. The White Ribbon Campaign asks men to pledge to never commit, condone, or remain silent about violence against women 
in all its forms. We have developed a network of White Ribbon Ambassadors and Champions across the force– officers and staff who engage 
with local communities to raise awareness of all forms of violence against women and girls, help achieve a change in behaviour and attitude 
amongst men, and encourage victims to come forward. The 2017 campaign took place during the 16 days of action up to 10th December. 
Representatives marched with partner agencies through Cardiff to Llandaff Cathedral on 27th November to the annual ‘Light a Candle’ multi-
faith service.

Increased availability of counselling and support has also been made available to those affected by child sexual abuse as a result of additional 
funding provided to New Pathways. This funding allowed New Pathways to deliver 2,898 counselling sessions. Research found that 100% of 
those who were able to access the service said they felt better support and 80% felt safer. 

P
age 49

http://www.newpathways.org.uk/


 

 

In February 2018 we held a conference on ‘Tackling Vulnerability Together’. This was a response to the report published by the Independent 
Police Complaints Commission (now the Independent Office of Police Conduct), following the Ian Watkins case of serious child abuse.  The 
report identified that South Wales Police could have done more to prevent the exploitation of vulnerable people involved in that case. 
Therefore, the Commissioner’s team organised a conference, inviting partner agencies and organisations, in order to discuss ways in which we 
could all work together to better deal with vulnerability and vulnerable people at risk. Various themes were discussed, such as counteracting 
unconscious bias, working with partners, and identifying vulnerability at the earliest stage. The conference was very successful and has led to 
discussions about future partnership events to share learning. 

The Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat was also finalised during the year and recommendations from this are now being implemented.  This 
Concordat is a shared statement of commitment, endorsed by senior leaders from the organisations most heavily involved in responding to 
mental health crisis in South Wales to work together to deliver a quality response when individuals with acute mental health need help. In 2017, 
South Wales Police took 33,000 calls from individuals with some kind of mental health-related issue. We are therefore working towards a pilot 
where mental health professionals will be based in the Public Service Centre at Police Headquarters, undertaking a mental health triage 
service.  This will support frontline officers and the Public Service Centre staff who take numerous calls where mental health problems are the 
underpinning problem.  The aim is to assist the individual on the phone, signposting as required and dealing with issues at an early stage in a 
crisis. We are working closely with statutory partners in order to take this initiative forward.  In order to support this work a Mental Health ‘App’ 
for police officers is being developed, which will enable officers to make better evidence-based decisions and recording the use of Section 136. 

Another initiative we have progressed during the year has been to encourage victims to report violence, particularly those less likely to report.  
The violence surveillance reports identified a significant proportion of victims of assaults do not report to the police and as such we developed a 
campaign to encourage victims to come forward and signpost them to the Victim Focus service. The key messages of the campaign included: 
that no-one has the right to hurt you; that if you have been the victim of violence, no matter who you are, how or when you were hurt, South 
Wales Police is there to help; that specialist staff will support you; that making contact with the police does not commit you to taking any further 
action; and that by reporting what happened you may be able to prevent it happening again or prevent someone else from being hurt.  The 
campaign has received widespread support and promotion from our partners and the campaign reached 191,526 individuals with a total of 
477,416 social media impressions. Our violence surveillance reports have also shown a decrease in the number of victims who do not report to 
the police, which would indicate campaign success. 

P
age 50



 

 

PRIORITY 4

We will make sure that the local criminal justice system 
works effectively and efficiently, meeting the needs of 
victims and challenging offenders

We have maintained our emphasis on reducing crime, working with our Criminal Justice partners to ensure victims are at the heart of 
the what we do while working with offenders to tackle root causes of offending behaviour.  

The victim services funded by the Commissioner have continued to help victims cope and recover from the effects of crime and ensure that the 
Criminal Justice System puts their needs first. The Ministry of Justice provides an annual grant to all Police and Crime Commissioners allowing 
them to decide how best to commission services that meet the needs of victims locally. South Wales ‘Victim Focus’, delivered by Victim Support, 
is our core service for victims.  It provides free and confidential needs-led, help and support to anyone affected by crime. During the year, 40,726 
people were referred into the service, 6,965 people received a needs assessment and 2,283 people received in depth support from our local 
teams. People who accessed the service who were helped to understand the information, advice and services available to them, said that they 
felt safer and that their health and wellbeing improved.

Funding for the ‘Drive Partnership’ challenges perpetrators of domestic abuse. It will develop, test and evaluate a new model to fundamentally 
change perpetrator behaviour to make victims and families safe. To reduce the number of victims, we must reduce the number of perpetrators. 
Drive was launched in Cwm Taf in April 2016 and has since provided a targeted service for almost 186 of the most dangerous perpetrators, 
challenging them to change and holding them to account if they do not. The additional funding will allow further development of ‘Drive’ in South 
Wales and seek opportunities to integrate a perpetrator response to increase the safety of victims and their families.

Due the success of ‘18-25 Diversion’ the ‘Support 18-25’ project was launched in Cwm Taf in September 2017. Similar to diversion, SUPPORT 
18-25 is a project that works with young adults who have been arrested but may not be eligible for diversion (due to severity of offence or previous 
offending history). The project aims to help individuals address any issues that they have, put support in place to reduce the likelihood of them 
coming into contact with the police in the future and help them make positive changes in their lives. Since the commencement of the scheme to 
the end of the financial year, 87 young people received support through voluntary engagement.

During the year, the Commissioner has also worked in partnership with the Youth Justice Board, Public Health Wales and the Forensic Adolescent 
Consultation and Treatment Service, to trial a youth justice response to adverse childhood experiences (ACE). This will involve bringing together 
the use of an ACE-lens to improve how we identify and respond to the needs of young people who are repeat offenders and the enhanced case 

P
age 51



 

 

management approach which will be the response when a high prevalence of adverse childhood experiences, trauma and complexity is identified. 
This three-year programme of work commenced in 2017-18 with the evaluation scheduled for the end of 2019-20.

PRIORITY 5

We will make our contribution to the strategic Policing 
requirement and successfully police major events

South Wales Police is a key strategic force in the support of major events outside and inside its boundaries, making a significant 
contribution to policing major events.

In 2017, Cardiff hosted the UEFA Champions League Final, one of the largest sporting events in the World, which saw 170,000 people visiting 
the city. For South Wales Police the security requirements were unprecedented and resulted in the biggest single sporting security operation in 
the United Kingdom. A team of 50 officers were involved in planning for the event and 6000 officers were deployed in Cardiff during the week of 
the event.  The Commissioner contributed to supporting the response to this event, liaising with key stakeholders and partners to ensure 
adequate support for the additional policing requirement. 

In June 2017, during the UEFA Champions League Final in Cardiff, South Wales Police became the first Force to deploy Automated Facial 
Recognition (AFR) ‘Locate’. This included becoming the first force in the UK to have a positive match using AFR, leading to the arrest of a 34-
year-old man wanted on a recall to prison. AFR Locate is a real time solution, which uses live feeds from CCTV-type cameras based either at a 
specific fixed location or on a camera secured to a police vehicle to locate persons on prescribed watch lists.

On the 7th August, South Wales Police went live with Automated Facial Recognition (AFR) ‘Identify’ which uses a static face search capability. 
AFR Identity allows officers to load images of “persons of interest” and compare them against our 500,000 custody images to see if there is a 
possible match on identification.

As well, as oversight by the Police & Crime Commissioner there has been scrutiny from the Biometrics Commissioner, the Information 
Commissioner and the Surveillance Commissioner and by the Independent Ethics Committee (appointed jointly by the Commissioner and the 
Chief Constable) and from a Home Office team including senior lawyers and policy officials.

P
age 52



 

 

Lobbying is ongoing for South Wales Police, as within the overall Police Settlement, the Metropolitan Police Service, through the Greater 
London Authority, will continue to receive National and International Capital City (NICC) grant funding worth £173.6m.  The City of London 
Police will also continue to receive NICC grant funding worth £4.5m.  This is in recognition of the unique and additional demands of policing the 
capital city of the United Kingdom.  No such allocation is provided in recognition of Cardiff’s status as the capital city of Wales and the 
associated events held there that draw resources from South Wales Police and its neighbouring forces.  

The Commissioners team have continued to work with partners and stakeholders to raise awareness of cyber-crime and internet related issues, 
building on and developing work with organisations such as Get Safe Online, and a key member of the forces digital and cyber strategic group.

PRIORITY 6

We will spend your money wisely to protect policing in your 
community

In 2017/18 was a year of ‘flat cash’ grant to policing and therefore a further cut in cash terms.  Combined with the impacts of inflation and 
changing demand, this meant that we faced a continued budget gap.  Increases in police precept have made up the balance but the precept in 
South Wales remains the second lowest of the four Welsh police forces.

Wherever possible, savings have come from more efficient use of fleet, property, supplies and services, rather than from reductions in police 
officer and PCSO numbers.  

During 2016/17, we continued our success in winning back funds to South Wales from Home Office grants.  We were successful with bids to 
the Police Transformation Fund for grants particularly our part in the all wales Adverse Childhood Experiences successful bid of £6.8 million 
and in July 2017, South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner was awarded £1.4 million from the Tackling Violence against Women and Girls 
Transformation fund – the largest share of the £17 million fund after a successful bid.

The major renovation and upgrade of the Headquarters in Bridgend was completed early in 2017, the next phase of redevelopment is currently 
being planned.  An in-depth review of estates continued in 2017/18 and will be monitored as a programme of modernisation and rationalisation 
is developed.

P
age 53



 

 

Alongside new approaches, we have continued to contribute funding to crucial services for those affected by domestic abuse and sexual 
violence. This has included the much needed provision of Independent Domestic Abuse Advocates (IDVAs) and Independent Sexual Violence 
Advocates (ISVAs). The advocates have provided invaluable help and support to male and female victims involved in the criminal justice 
process ensuring that their needs are put first, that they know what to expect and that they are provided with support and reassurance in court. 
A total of 713 individuals affected by domestic abuse were supported through the court process.

The Home Office has also awarded funding to the ‘Drive Partnership’ to further address the behaviour of perpetrators of violent crime in South 
Wales. South Wales Police has secured a share of additional funding from the Home Office Police Transformation Fund to continue its 
innovative work with offenders. The funding will seek to complement and integrate perpetrator provision within a wider service delivery 
framework in order to tackle violence against women and girls. 

The Commissioner also funds a number of diversionary schemes project, which seeks to reduce offending and re-offending by diverting 
individuals away from the criminal justice system and into supportive interventions through early intervention. Through prompt, positive action, 
18-25 and Women’s diversion schemes are able to work with individuals to address vulnerabilities, underlying needs and divert away from 
crime and into healthy, positive lives. 

3. Grants and funding
Victim Services

Victim Support received £748,435 to deliver South Wales Victim Focus, a service that provides needs-led, free and confidential support to 
individuals affected by crime.

• 40,726 people were referred into the service
• 6,965 people received a needs assessment
• 2,283 people received in depth support
•

Information and advocacy, emotional and practical support and referrals to other agencies were delivered face to face and over the phone by 
local teams in:

 Cardiff, Bridgend and the Vale of Glamorgan
 Swansea and Neath Port Talbot
 Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil

P
age 54



 

 

Community Safety

Each Community Safety Partnership within the South Wales Police area received a contribution to support their work.

 Bridgend Community Safety Partnership £56,100 
 Cardiff Safer & Cohesive Communities Programme Board £149,000
 Cwm Taf Community Safety Partnership Board (Merthyr £41,200; RCT £82,300 ) £123,500
 Safer NPT Partnership Board £59,700
 Safer Swansea Board £120,500
 Safer Vale Partnership £56,500

The Commissioner’s funding has helped to deliver a range of community services, including:
 Crime and disorder reduction and prevention interventions
 Offender management
 Substance misuse support
 Domestic and sexual abuse (including IDVA and ISVA services) support
 Mental health support
 Evening and nigh time economy interventions
 Hate crime support
 Community cohesion and engagement activities
 Anti-human exploitation support

Diversionary Schemes

Media Academy Cardiff Ltd and Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council receive a total of £323,752 deliver a diversion services that offers 
young people aged 18-25 arrested for a low-level offence an intervention to divert them from the criminal justice system. This money is also 
utilised for providing support for Young People arrested who may not be eligible for diversion.

 506 Young Adults Referred for Diversion Assessment
 463 Young Adults were accepted for diversion and diverted away from the Criminal Justice System
 700 onward referrals and/or signposts have been made to partner agencies, giving young adults access to services and support, such 

as mental health, housing, substance misuse.

P
age 55



 

 

‘Include’ (formerly Gibran UK) and Safer Wales received £121,826 to deliver the Women’s Pathfinder Diversion Scheme in Cardiff and Cwm 
Taf to divert women from the Criminal Justice System into support and intervention at the earliest opportunity. Women were able to improve 
their safety, enabled to make positive choices and empowered to make positive changes in their lives by receiving a need led service.

 277 women were referred to the scheme
 245 women were accepted onto the scheme
 178 women were provided with support  

Youth Offending

The Commissioner’s contribution to Youth Offending has helped the Partnerships to deliver early intervention and preventions services, 
diversionary activities, substance misuse services and services for victims of youth crime. 

They received the following contributions to service:

 Western Bay Early Intervention and Youth Justice Board (Bridgend £31,900,  Neath Port Talbot £35,800 and Swansea £63,100) 
£130,800

 Cardiff Youth Offending Service Management Board £78,700
 Cwm Taf Youth Offending Service (Merthyr £34,900; RCT, £64,400) £99,300
 Vale of Glamorgan Youth Offending Board £23,200

Domestic Abuse, Stalking, Harassment & Sexual Violence (DASHSV) Services

Grants were awarded to provide services to victims of domestic abuse, domestic violence and sexual violence.

We have continued to fund vital provision, focusing on early identification, intervention and prevention.  The IRIS (Identification and Referral to 
Improve Safety) initiative will now be funded by University Health Boards as part of core business, working towards a more sustainable 
approach to planning, funding and the delivery of services.  IRIS has been running in Cwm Taff since August 2015. Since then they have 
received 223 referrals from health professionals. Their practitioners are actively asking the right questions and are confident in doing so. 
Patients and clients have reported that they feel listened to and valued.

Cardiff and the Vale – BAWSO £50,000
 27 surgeries were IRIS aware

P
age 56



 

 

 527 health professionals trained
 406 patients referred to IRIS service
 209 had disclosed for the first time that they were experiencing domestic abuse or violence

Cardiff and the Vale practices found that the key achievements were; 27 practices were fully engaged, their practitioners were asking the right 
questions and practitioners were aware of the referral pathway for IRIS. 

 38 surgeries were IRIS aware
 699 health professionals trained
 359 patients referred to IRIS service
 114 had disclosed for the first time that they were experiencing domestic abuse or violence

With a first-time disclosure rate of over 60%, IRIS has proved itself as an excellent model for early intervention and one that could be duplicated 
with other professionals. The success of IRIS has identified the gaps in the provision available, as there is a lack of available funding for 
prevention/early intervention work.

During the year, £186,403 was awarded to Welsh Women’s Aid to deliver the first year of the early-intervention model ‘Change that Lasts’.  
This is for domestic abuse victims and survivors in a defined area of Cardiff. ‘Change that Lasts’ is a strengths-based, needs-led model that 
supports domestic abuse survivors and their children to build resilience and leads to independence. It is about the process of ending violence 
and abuse. It does not assume that, in all cases, the survivor ends the relationship with the abuser - rather the aim is to give survivors options 
and to help them to negotiate these, because staying with her partner is only an option at all if leaving is a viable option.

The DRIVE Partnership (Safe Lives, Respect and Social Finance) was awarded £284,000 to reduce the number of child and adult victims of 
domestic abuse by developing a whole system response that drives perpetrators to change their behaviour and achieves increased physical 
safety and feelings of safety for victims.  Drive has coordinated innovative responses to challenging the abusive behaviour of 186 perpetrators 
of domestic abuse.

Court Independent Domestic Violence Advocates and Independent Sexual Violence Advocates (IDVA and ISVA) provision

Atal Y Fro, Bridgend council, Safer Merthyr, Cardiff Council, Neath Port Talbot Council and New Pathways received £97,881 towards IDVA and 
ISVA services in South Wales.  A total of 2340 people affected by domestic Abuse and sexual violence received a service. 

Child Sexual Abuse
New Pathways received £109,727 to provide counselling and assessment for adults, children and young people affected by rape and sexual 
abuse. 

P
age 57

http://www.newpathways.org.uk/


 

 

 463 adults and 135 children and young people accessed the service 
 733 assessments were undertaken
 2,898 counselling sessions were provided 

All clients felt they had better knowledge of information, advice and support services available to them, over 80% felt safer, and that their health 
and wellbeing had improved because of receiving the service.

4. Statutory Responsibilities and Corporate Governance
Independent Custody Visiting

The Commissioner has a number of responsibilities within legislation to ensure that the force is held to account on behalf of the public.  A 
number of assurance activities are conducted throughout the year to ensure this takes place and findings are fed back to the force for any 
improvement to be made.  One of our statutory schemes of this nature is the running of our Independent Custody Visiting scheme, which 
provides a check on the conditions of detention and the welfare of individuals held in South Wales Police custody.  In 2017-18, 38 volunteers 
made 224 unannounced visits to the four custody suites, speaking to 763 detainees, including 42 children. Issues monitored included waiting 
times for Appropriate Adults, the operation of hearing loops, adverse incidents including self-harm and timeliness of repairs. 
 
The Commissioner also operates the Animal Welfare Visiting scheme to ensure the welfare of working police animals. During 2017-18, 
volunteers made 52 visits to the Dog & Mounted Section at Waterton to check on the police dogs and horses.

Governance and Decision Making

The governance arrangements are designed to ensure appropriate accountability and to assist effective leadership.  The Police Reform and 
Social Responsibility Act 2011 created two “corporations sole” within each police force: the Commissioner and the Chief Constable.  They each 
have separate roles set out in statute.  The Commissioner must set a budget each year, including the Council Tax precept and appoints the Chief 
Constable.  The Commissioner has specific responsibilities for community safety and crime reduction and a wider responsibility for the 
enhancement of the delivery of criminal justice locally.  The Chief Constable is responsible for the control, direction and delivery of operational 
policing.

The Commissioner’s Strategic Board is the main way in which the Commissioner is able to oversee force performance.  It is chaired by the 
Commissioner and attended by the Chief Constable and his senior officers.  Minutes of the Commissioner’s Strategic Board can be found here:

P
age 58



 

 

http://commissioner.south-wales.police.uk/en/right-information/make-decisions/strategic-board/

The Commissioner also takes decisions that relate to his particular areas of statutory responsibility.  The significant decisions can be found here:

http://commissioner.south-wales.police.uk/en/right-information/make-decisions/decisions-made/

Accountability and Scrutiny

Police and Crime Panel
The Police and Crime Panel is responsible for overseeing the Police and Crime Commissioner and scrutinising his decisions.  Agendas and 
minutes of Panel meetings can be found here:
 https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/councillors-and-committees/south-wales-police-and-crime-panel/

Joint Audit Committee
The Commissioner and Chief Constable have appointed an independent Joint Audit Committee that provides assurance to enhance public trust 
and confidence in governance.  The Committee provides:

 Independent assurance on the adequacy of the risk management framework and the associated control environment;
 Independent scrutiny of financial performance;
 Oversight in relation to the financial reporting framework.

Further details on the Joint Audit Committee can be found here:
http://commissioner.south-wales.police.uk/en/right-information/freedom-information/freedom-information-publications-scheme/finance/joint-
audit-committee/
Internal Audit
A specialist company, TIAA, provides internal audit services.  Internal audit perform a range of reviews to an agreed audit plan and in 
compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.  The Internal Audit Plan is scrutinised by the Joint Audit Committee before it is agreed.  
The Joint Audit Committee receive and review each internal audit report.

P
age 59

http://commissioner.south-wales.police.uk/en/right-information/make-decisions/strategic-board/
http://commissioner.south-wales.police.uk/en/right-information/make-decisions/decisions-made/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/councillors-and-committees/south-wales-police-and-crime-panel/
http://commissioner.south-wales.police.uk/en/right-information/freedom-information/freedom-information-publications-scheme/finance/joint-audit-committee/
http://commissioner.south-wales.police.uk/en/right-information/freedom-information/freedom-information-publications-scheme/finance/joint-audit-committee/


 

 

External Audit
The Wales Audit Office are the appointed external auditors to the Commissioner and Chief Constable.  Each year, the Wales Audit Office 
comment on the financial aspects of corporate governance, including the legality of financial transactions, financial standing systems, systems 
of internal financial control and the standards of financial conduct, fraud and corruption.  The Wales Audit Office also has a statutory duty to 
assess arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources.  

Independent Ethics Committee
The Commissioners team are a key member of the independent Ethics Committee, contributing to dilemmas and debate through last year this 
included issues around the use of facial recognition, stop and search powers as well as broader issues such as the homelessness issues within 
Cardiff city centre.

Police Accountability & Legitimacy Group (PALG)
As outlined in the report, this group was introduced in 2017 to enhance the Commissioner’s role of overseeing the force and engaging with 
communities.  PALG issues discussed during 2017-18 included stop search, equality objectives, hate crime and use of force.

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS)
The role of the HMIC is to promote the economy, efficiency and effectiveness of policing through inspection, to ensure agreed standards are 
met and maintained; good practice is spread and performance is improved.  The HMIC inspects the functions of the Chief Constable, not the 
Police and Crime Commissioner.  However, the Commissioner receives a copy of each report and has a duty to respond to each report.  
Copies of HMIC reports can be found here:
http://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/?force=south-wales&type=publications
Complaints

The Police and Crime Panel is responsible for investigating complaints against the Commissioner.  More information can be found here:

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/councillors-and-committees/south-wales-police-and-crime-panel/ 

The Commissioner is responsible for investigating complaints against the Chief Constable.  More information can be found here:

http://commissioner.south-wales.police.uk/en/complaints-compliments-suggestions/ 

P
age 60

http://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/?force=south-wales&type=publications
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/councillors-and-committees/south-wales-police-and-crime-panel/
http://commissioner.south-wales.police.uk/en/complaints-compliments-suggestions/


 

 

5. Finance and oversight

Before the start of each financial year, the Commissioner produces a Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) that sets out his spending plans 
and precept proposal for the forthcoming financial year.   This document includes detailed information on the economic background, Home 
Office decisions in respect of police grants, revenue and capital expenditure plans, workforce estimates and the Treasury Management 
Strategy.  

At the end of each financial year, the Statement of Accounts is produced which details financial performance during the year and the financial 
position as at 31st March.  The Wales Audit Office audits the Statement of Accounts.  

The MTFS and Statement of Accounts for 2017/18 can be found at:

http://commissioner.south-wales.police.uk/en/right-information/freedom-information/freedom-information-publications-scheme/finance/

Further detail on the finances can be found on the Police and Crime Commissioners website:

http://commissioner.south-wales.police.uk/en/right-information/freedom-information/freedom-information-publications-scheme/finance/financial-
plans-reports/

Transparency

Police and Crime Commissioners are obliged to publish certain information to allow the public to hold them to account.  The Commissioner 
complies with these requirements and the information can be found here:

hthttp://commissioner.south-wales.police.uk/en/right-information/specified-information/
 

P
age 61

http://commissioner.south-wales.police.uk/en/right-information/freedom-information/freedom-information-publications-scheme/finance/
http://commissioner.south-wales.police.uk/en/right-information/freedom-information/freedom-information-publications-scheme/finance/financial-plans-reports/
http://commissioner.south-wales.police.uk/en/right-information/freedom-information/freedom-information-publications-scheme/finance/financial-plans-reports/
hthttp://commissioner.south-wales.police.uk/en/right-information/specified-information/


 

 

6. Looking ahead to 2018-19 and beyond
With the new Chief Constable formally in post, and the implementation of his delivery plan, we will work together to refresh my Police and Crime 
Reduction Plan to reflect our mutual priorities. While I do not expect a fundamental change in approach, it is only right that the new Chief has the 
opportunity to inject his ideas into the Plan. We will continue to work in partnership with the Public Service Boards as they implement their 
Wellbeing Plans and ensure that Community Safety receives ongoing commitment amongst competing priorities.

In relation to Community Safety in Wales we have now had confirmation of the detail for the three-way agreement between ourselves 
(Commissioners and Chief Constables), the WLGA and Welsh Government.

The Safer Communities Project is a joint initiative between Welsh Government, Local Government and Policing in Wales with the objective of 
providing shared leadership in reinvigorating community safety partnership working in Wales.

The Project will work closely with and provide regular updates to the Safer Communities Programme Board (SCPB1), which will oversee 
implementation of the Community Safety Review’s recommendations. The Project will run from 30th July 2018 through until at least 31st March 
2020 (subject to review).  A jointly funded Safer Communities Project Manager (seconded from the National Assembly for Wales) who will be 
based at the WLGA offices will support the Project.  Line management of the post will be undertaken by WLGA.

This Project is complementary to the work of WG and the Safer Communities Programme Board and will ensure that appropriate leadership in 
reinvigorating community safety partnership working is operating effectively across Wales, at national, regional and local levels.  It will also 
connect to other partners involved in community safety work and agencies in the criminal justice system. Welsh Government will continue to 
provide national strategic leadership on community safety in Wales.   

The Project will be undertaken on a collaborative basis, working towards delivery of agreed priorities and activities.  A work plan for the timescale 
of the Project will be developed (in autumn 2018), identifying clear outcomes and outputs to be achieved.  The Project will take a solution-focused 
approach, reaching consensus on the way forward and maintaining a focus on delivering our shared ambition for improving the safety of our 
communities.

1 A Strategic Oversight Group will meet as necessary to monitor progress and provide direction on the work of the Project.  Membership of this Group will include Steve 
Thomas (WLGA), Alun Michael (Policing), Reg Kilpatrick (WG), and secretariat support provided by the Safer Communities Project Manager.

An Operational Group will meet monthly to provide more operational direction and support and will include Naomi Alleyne (WLGA), Dan Jones/Mark Brace (Policing), 
Martin Swain (WG), Mark Price (WG) and the Safer Communities Project Manager

P
age 62



 

 

As stated above in July this year, we were successful with a bid to the UK Governments Violence against Women and Girls Transformation Fund. 
We have received £1.4 million representing the largest share of the £17 million fund. This money will be spent over the next three years to deliver 
the ‘Change that Lasts’ model, accelerating our work in reducing violence against women and girls. We will also be working in conjunction with 
Merseyside Police to tackle the causes and effects of sex working in South Wales.   This three-year project will put in place victim-focused 
processes to better support sex workers who have already been victims of violence and those who are at risk, both on the street and online. 

Annual Report 2017/18 LJO

P
age 63

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/uk-government-awards-14million-to-south-wales-police-crime-commissioner-to-tackle-violence-against-women-and-girls
http://www.wirralglobe.co.uk/news/15471825.Extra_funding_to_protect_sex_workers_on_the_streets_of_Merseyside/
http://www.wirralglobe.co.uk/news/15471825.Extra_funding_to_protect_sex_workers_on_the_streets_of_Merseyside/


T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting(s)
	5 Commissioners Update Report - Rt Hon Alun Michael
	6 Update on Complaint changes paper and verbal update - Jackie Trow
	8 Paper and verbal update on Apprenticeship Levy  explaining the work the Commissioner has been doing with regard to his lead role on the Partnership Council Finance Sub Group
	Appendix 2

	10 Appointment of Chief Finance Officer - Rt Hon Alun Michael
	11 Report for Information - Annual Review- Lee Jones

